

# Septennial Faculty Handbook Revision Committee

- In general, we are charged with updating references and terminology to contemporary university usage and clarifying policy when unclear.
- Significant policy decisions are beyond the scope and power of the committee, and we will be referring a short list of issues that the Faculty Senate itself may wish to consider in the coming years.
- The edited handbook needs to be approved by both the Faculty Senate and the Board of Governors, and some degree of compromise will increase the likelihood that a version that is favorable to faculty is approved.

- In a few circumstances, we have amended the document to fall in line with actual but policy-adherent practice across the university; in these cases we believe that these changes are in the interest of faculty.
- In some places, we have made summaries of policy briefer, with reference to the Policy Library—which we do not believe existed at the time that this handbook document was first drafted—or similar websites.

- At all times, however, we have kept in mind the deferential effect of this sort of reference to external documentation, and in the more important cases have retained interpretative text within the handbook in order to maintain the strongest potential for faculty self-governance and self-determination, rather than completely ceding interpretive authority to the policy library.
- Over time it becomes increasingly likely that there will be some conflict between this document and the policy library, and faculty Senate will need to consider and/or assert its position.

- After some weeks of work, in late January, it became apparent that we needed to pause work on any phrasing regarding diversity, equity, inclusion, inclusive excellence, nondiscrimination, and related topics; we will need to wait for some clarity on what can be retained.
- The Board of Governors ultimately needs to approve the document, but we intend to maintain as much of the Public Affairs ethos of the university as possible.
- Broad philosophical application of concepts including diversity have been retained.



## Simple updates and changes:

- Standardization with new parlance, data, and structure (*department head/school director* to *academic unit leader*, new titles and duties of administrators, number of colleges and programs, et cetera)
- Oxford commas, standardization of capitalization, that-vs-which, et cetera

## More substantial changes:

### Section 1:

- Updated information about campuses, outreach, Carnegie designation, etc.
- Removed some information, such as details on the Three Pillars, replacing with references to relevant websites, in order to be more “evergreen” and reduce need for future edits.

### Section 2:

- 2.1 and 2.2 Core Commitments and EOAA/Affirmative Action policy —phrasing currently on hold; maintaining as much as possible the spirit of the old policy.

## Section 3:

- Clarified some language about early tenure and graduate faculty status
- Removed most language referring to pre-2007 Tenure-Track Research Faculty (there were exceedingly few and now have tenure; much of the text is no longer needed)
- Moved coverage of Clinical Faculty up due to their number and importance and added some information concerning their ranks.
- Level playing field/standardized, regarding ability of individuals in various full-time non-tenure-track titles to use time in those positions toward tenure and promotion, if later appointed to a tenure-track position (if they meet the qualifications for the position and the Provost approves)

# 1. PURPOSE, ORGANIZATION, AND GOVERNANCE

## 1.1. Mission

### 1.1.1. Mission Overview

~~Missouri State University is a comprehensive institution offering undergraduate and graduate programs, including the professional doctorate. The university educates students to be global citizen scholars committed to public affairs. Missouri State University is a public, comprehensive metropolitan system with a statewide mission in public affairs, whose purpose is to develop educated persons. The University's identity is distinguished by its public affairs mission, which entails a campus-wide commitment to foster expertise and responsibility in ethical leadership, cultural competence and community engagement.~~

The academic experience is grounded in a general education curriculum ~~which that~~ draws heavily from the liberal arts and sciences. This foundation provides the basis for mastery of disciplinary and professional studies. It also provides essential forums in which students develop the capacity to make well-informed, independent critical judgments about the cultures, values, and institutions in society.

The Missouri State University campuses are structured to address the special needs of the urban and rural populations they serve. Missouri State University-Springfield is a selective admissions, graduate level teaching and research institution, ~~providing~~ seated, online, ~~blended, and hybrid instruction~~. Missouri State University-West Plains is a separately accredited open admissions campus primarily serving seven counties in south central Missouri. Missouri State University-Mountain Grove serves Missouri's fruit industry through operation of the State Fruit Experiment Station. ~~Missouri State Outreach provides anytime, anyplace learning opportunities through telecourses, Internet-based instruction, iTunes U and its interactive video network.~~ The University also operates various other special facilities, such as the Darr Agricultural Center in southwest Springfield, the Journagan Ranch in Douglas County, the Jordan Valley Innovation Center in downtown Springfield, the Bull Shoals Field Station near Forsyth, Baker's Acres and Observatory near Marshfield, ~~eleven satellite campus locations in southwest Missouri and northeast Oklahoma~~ the Missouri State University Graduate Center in Joplin, and a branch campus at Liaoning Normal University (LNU) in Dalian, China.

This Faculty Handbook is applicable to those faculty associated ~~and employed~~ with the Springfield campus.

### 1.1.2. Public Affairs Mission

Missouri State University was granted a statewide mission in public affairs in 1995. The public affairs mission defines a primary way in which an education from Missouri State is different from that of other universities and one way by which we educate our students to imagine the future. The public affairs mission has three pillars: ethical leadership, cultural competence, and community engagement.

- ~~Ethical leadership requires students to articulate their value systems, act ethically within the context of a democratic society and demonstrate engaged and principled leadership.~~
- ~~Cultural competence requires students to recognize and respect multiple perspectives and cultures.~~
- ~~Community engagement requires students to recognize the importance of contributing their knowledge and experiences to their own community and the broader society.~~

Further details about the Public Affairs Mission may be found on the Missouri State website.

### 1.1.3. University's General Mission

Missouri State University declares as its mission the advancement of learning, scholarly inquiry, and service. Consistent with its history, traditions, and continuing growth, the University's mission is achieved through the

development of quality and excellence in Teaching, Research, and Service (~~see Chapter 4 for specific definition~~).

The University's general mission is further enhanced through a strong foundation of collegiality, professionalism, and ethical leadership, and by a comprehensive network of support programs.

# 1. PURPOSE, ORGANIZATION, AND GOVERNANCE

## 1.1. Mission

### 1.1.1. Mission Overview

Missouri State University is a comprehensive institution offering undergraduate and graduate programs, including the professional doctorate. The university educates students to be global citizen scholars committed to [public affairs](#). The academic experience is grounded in a general education curriculum that draws heavily from the liberal arts and sciences. This foundation provides the basis for mastery of disciplinary and professional studies. It also provides essential forums in which students develop the capacity to make well-informed, independent critical judgments about the cultures, values, and institutions in society.

The Missouri State University campuses are structured to address the special needs of the urban and rural populations they serve. Missouri State University-Springfield is a selective admissions, graduate level teaching and research institution, providing seated, online, blended, and hybrid instruction Missouri State University-West Plains is a separately accredited open admissions campus primarily serving seven counties in south central Missouri. Missouri State University-Mountain Grove serves Missouri's fruit industry through operation of the State Fruit Experiment Station. The University also operates various other special facilities, such as the Darr Agricultural Center in southwest Springfield, the Journagan Ranch in Douglas County, the Jordan Valley Innovation Center in downtown Springfield, the Bull Shoals Field Station near Forsyth, Baker's Acres and Observatory near Marshfield, eleven satellite campus locations in southwest Missouri and northeast Oklahoma, and a branch campus at Liaoning Normal University (LNU) in Dalian, China.

This Faculty Handbook is applicable to those faculty associated and employed with the Springfield campus.

### 1.1.2. Public Affairs Mission

Missouri State University was granted a statewide mission in public affairs in 1995. The public affairs mission defines a primary way in which an education from Missouri State is different from that of other universities and one way by which we educate our students to imagine the future. The public affairs mission has three pillars: ethical leadership, cultural competence, and community engagement. Further details about the Public Affairs Mission may be found on the Missouri State website.

### 1.1.3. University's General Mission

Missouri State University declares as its mission the advancement of learning, scholarly inquiry, and service. Consistent with its history, traditions, and continuing growth, the University's mission is achieved through the development of quality and excellence in Teaching, Research, and Service.

The University's general mission is further enhanced through a strong foundation of collegiality, professionalism, and ethical leadership, and by a comprehensive network of support programs.



6 **1.1.3.1. Teaching**

7 While the University recognizes the individual importance and collective synergies of Teaching, Research, and  
8 Service, its first obligation is to the teaching of undergraduate and graduate students. To provide quality learning  
9 experiences, Missouri State University subscribes to the following broad educational objectives:

- 10 • To provide educational opportunities that enable students to develop and enhance the capacity for scholarly  
11 inquiry and critical reasoning, the facility to synthesize knowledge from various disciplines and within a  
12 specific discipline, and the ability to undertake and advance self-directed learning.
- 13 • To ensure that all undergraduate educational programs are supported by a quality general education  
14 curriculum that provides a foundation for advanced undergraduate and graduate studies.
- 15 • To instill in each student an appreciation and understanding of the interrelationships among diverse branches  
16 of knowledge.
- 17 • To provide students with the opportunity to acquire a depth of knowledge in at least one academic field of  
18 study and to pursue discipline-based studies and research at the graduate level.
- 19 • To provide students with the opportunity to understand and apply early the mutual benefits of tying mind  
20 and body.
- 21 • To promote a learning environment in ~~coursework and the classroom and through~~ mentoring that encourages  
22 students to grow and recognize their full potential, and to engage in life-long learning and self-actualization.
- 23 • To instill in students a sense of civic responsibility and engagement in activity for the public good consistent  
24 with the Public Affairs Mission.

25  
26  
27 **1.1.3.2. Research**

28 Tenured and tenure track faculty are expected to engage in scholarship related to their discipline or profession,  
29 customarily denoted in academia as Research. The activities that constitute Research vary broadly depending on the  
30 field of study. These include the discovery, synthesis or integration, and application of knowledge as well as creative  
31 activity and criticism based on scholarly inquiry. As such, Research may span the range from artistic creation to the  
32 process of discovery in technical fields.

33  
34 Research should produce outcomes that are disseminated publicly and subjected to appropriate critical review. This  
35 not only contributes to the advancement of a field of study, but also serves as a measure of the expertise and  
36 productivity of a faculty member and a department. Faculty research often includes student involvement, and as  
37 such, extends the educational experience beyond the classroom and also provides a venue for mentoring.

38  
39 The scope of research at the University encompasses individual and collaborative faculty projects and the activities  
40 of the University's various research centers.

41  
42 Financial support for Research comes from competitive institutional sources such as Faculty Research Grants and  
43 Fellowships and from external sources such as competitive grants and contracts from organizations and agencies.

44

45  
46  
47  
48  
49 **1.1.3.1. Teaching**

0 While the University recognizes the individual importance and collective synergies of Teaching, Research, and  
1 Service, its first obligation is to the teaching of undergraduate and graduate students. To provide quality learning  
2 experiences, Missouri State University subscribes to the following broad educational objectives:

- 3  
4 • To provide educational opportunities that enable students to develop and enhance the capacity for scholarly  
5 inquiry and critical reasoning, the facility to synthesize knowledge from various disciplines and within a  
6 specific discipline, and the ability to undertake and advance self-directed learning.
- 7 • To ensure that all undergraduate educational programs are supported by a quality general education  
8 curriculum that provides a foundation for advanced undergraduate and graduate studies.
- 9 • To instill in each student an appreciation and understanding of the interrelationships among diverse branches  
10 of knowledge.
- 11 • To provide students with the opportunity to acquire a depth of knowledge in at least one academic field of  
12 study and to pursue discipline-based studies and research at the graduate level.
- 13 • To provide students with the opportunity to understand and apply early the mutual benefits of tying mind  
14 and body.
- 15 • To promote a learning environment in coursework and mentoring that encourages students to grow and  
16 recognize their full potential, and to engage in life-long learning and self-actualization.
- 17 • To instill in students a sense of civic responsibility and engagement in activity for the public good consistent  
18 with the Public Affairs Mission.

19  
20  
21  
22  
23 **1.1.3.2. Research**

24 Tenured and tenure track faculty are expected to engage in scholarship related to their discipline or profession,  
25 customarily denoted in academia as Research. The activities that constitute Research vary broadly depending on the  
26 field of study. These include the discovery, synthesis or integration, and application of knowledge as well as creative  
27 activity and criticism based on scholarly inquiry. As such, Research may span the range from artistic creation to the  
28 process of discovery in technical fields.

29 Research should produce outcomes that are disseminated publicly and subjected to appropriate critical review. This  
30 not only contributes to the advancement of a field of study, but also serves as a measure of the expertise and  
31 productivity of a faculty member and a department. Faculty research often includes student involvement, and as  
such, extends the educational experience beyond the classroom and also provides a venue for mentoring.

The scope of research at the University encompasses individual and collaborative faculty projects and the activities  
of the University's various research centers.

Financial support for Research comes from competitive institutional sources such as Faculty Research Grants and  
Fellowships and from external sources such as competitive grants and contracts from organizations and agencies.

31

45 **1.1.3.3. Service**

46 The role of service at Missouri State University is to make available the University's resources and human expertise  
47 for the purpose of meeting needs or solving problems of various constituencies both within and beyond the  
48 University. The most important service resources of the University are the diverse and specialized talents of the

1 faculty. Service to the University through committee work, assistance to student organizations, and other activities  
2 represents a critical contribution to the operation and development of the institution through shared governance, and  
3 enhances the Teaching and Research missions. The scope of service also includes consultations and application of  
4 disciplinary knowledge and expertise to address the needs of professional organizations and public constituencies.

5  
6 These service activities within the University and with public and private partners represent a collaborative effort for  
7 the common good and contribute to the University's Public Affairs Mission.

8  
9 **1.1.3.4. Collegiality**

10 The community of scholars that is Missouri State University fulfills the University's general mission and its public  
11 affairs focus guided by these values and beliefs:

- 12  
13
  - Practicing personal and academic integrity
  - 14 • Being a full participant in the educational process, and respecting the right of all to contribute to the  
15 "Marketplace of Ideas."
  - 16 • Respecting the integrity of peers and associates by treating all persons with civility, while understanding  
17 that tolerating an idea is not the same as supporting it.
  - 18 • Being a steward of the University's resources.

19  
20 Collegiality among colleagues is a vital asset to the University community. The University community values  
21 collegiality less as a separate quality and more as an integrated or distributed aspect of an individual's interactions,  
22 as expressed in the [AAUP document On Collegiality](#).

23  
24 **1.1.3.5. Support Programs**

25 The support programs at Missouri State University facilitate and enhance the activities of faculty and students.  
26 Programs providing support service are delineated into three areas: academic support, student services, and  
27 institutional support. Each area has a distinctive role within the University.

28  
29 The role of academic support units is to provide direct service to the University's programs of teaching, scholarship,  
30 research, creativity activity, and public service. The scope of this responsibility includes (1) acquiring, preserving,  
31 and displaying published materials, art objects, and scientific materials; (2) providing services to assist teaching and  
32 scholarship, research, and creative activity; (3) administering academic programs; and (4) developing opportunities  
33 for the personal and professional growth of faculty.

34  
35 The role of student service units is to develop the emotional and physical well-being of students as well as to  
36 contribute to the intellectual, cultural, and social development outside the context of the institution's formal  
37 instructional program. The scope of this responsibility includes activities ~~which that~~ provide (1) personal services to  
38 students, (2) opportunities for student growth and development, and (3) services and conveniences needed by students  
39 as members of a resident and commuting student body.

40  
41 The role of institutional support units is to provide for the University's organizational effectiveness and continuity.  
42 The scope of this responsibility includes (1) planning and executive leadership, (2) administrative and logistical  
43 services, and (3) institutional advancement activities.

44

32 **1.1.3.3. Service**

33 The role of service at Missouri State University is to make available the University's resources and human expertise  
34 for the purpose of meeting needs or solving problems of various constituencies both within and beyond the  
35 University. The most important service resources of the University are the diverse and specialized talents of the  
36 faculty. Service to the University through committee work, assistance to student organizations, and other activities  
37 represents a critical contribution to the operation and development of the institution through shared governance, and  
38 enhances the Teaching and Research missions. The scope of service also includes consultations and application of  
39 disciplinary knowledge and expertise to address the needs of professional organizations and public constituencies.

40  
41 These service activities within the University and with public and private partners represent a collaborative effort for  
42 the common good and contribute to the University's Public Affairs Mission.

43  
44 **1.1.3.4. Collegiality**

45 The community of scholars that is Missouri State University fulfills the University's general mission and its public  
46 affairs focus guided by these values and beliefs:

- 47  
48
  - Practicing personal and academic integrity
  - 1 • Being a full participant in the educational process, and respecting the right of all to contribute to the  
2 "Marketplace of Ideas."
  - 3 • Respecting the integrity of peers and associates by treating all persons with civility, while understanding  
4 that tolerating an idea is not the same as supporting it.
  - 5 • Being a steward of the University's resources.

6  
7 Collegiality among colleagues is a vital asset to the University community. The University community values  
8 collegiality less as a separate quality and more as an integrated or distributed aspect of an individual's interactions,  
9 as expressed in the [AAUP document On Collegiality](#).

10  
11 **1.1.3.5. Support Programs**

12 The support programs at Missouri State University facilitate and enhance the activities of faculty and students.  
13 Programs providing support service are delineated into three areas: academic support, student services, and  
14 institutional support. Each area has a distinctive role within the University.

15  
16 The role of academic support units is to provide direct service to the University's programs of teaching, scholarship,  
17 research, creativity activity, and public service. The scope of this responsibility includes (1) acquiring, preserving,  
18 and displaying published materials, art objects, and scientific materials; (2) providing services to assist teaching and  
19 scholarship, research, and creative activity; (3) administering academic programs; and (4) developing opportunities  
20 for the personal and professional growth of faculty.

21  
22 The role of student service units is to develop the emotional and physical well-being of students as well as to  
23 contribute to the intellectual, cultural, and social development outside the context of the institution's formal  
24 instructional program. The scope of this responsibility includes activities that provide (1) personal services to  
25 students, (2) opportunities for student growth and development, and (3) services and conveniences needed by students  
26 as members of a resident and commuting student body.

27  
28 The role of institutional support units is to provide for the University's organizational effectiveness and continuity.  
29 The scope of this responsibility includes (1) planning and executive leadership, (2) administrative and logistical  
30 services, and (3) institutional advancement activities.

31



## 1.2. History

Missouri State University was founded in 1905 as the Fourth District Normal School and in 1919 became Southwest Missouri State Teachers College. The University's primary purpose during the first forty years of its history was the preparation of teachers for the public school system in the southwest region of Missouri.

By the mid-1940s, the University had expanded its instructional program beyond teacher education to include the liberal arts and sciences; as a consequence, the Missouri legislature in 1945 authorized an official change in the institution's name to Southwest Missouri State College. As additional programs were implemented at the undergraduate level, and with the development of graduate programs beginning in 1955, the University had become by 1972 an educationally diverse institution. Recognition of this further growth and development again resulted in an official change in name to Southwest Missouri State University.

By 2005 Southwest Missouri State University had become a comprehensive university in the center of a unique metropolitan region serving a state-wide clientele, attracting students from all 114 counties of Missouri, 48 states, and 81 other countries. The University system now comprises three campuses: a selective admissions campus at Springfield, a research campus at Mountain Grove, and an open admissions campus at West Plains. In addition, the University has an established presence at Dalian and [QingdaoChongqing](#), China.

In recognition of the University's focused mission and expanded role, the legislature authorized the institution to become Missouri State University, effective August 28, 2005. It is in this enhanced and evolving environment that University faculty execute a three-fold role: to provide quality teaching, to further scholarship, research, and creative activity, and to provide service.

[tehthe](#)

The University treats these activities as integrated functions. Each draws from and builds upon the strengths of the other. The liberal arts and sciences constitute the structural foundation on which the University's varied undergraduate programs rest. That foundation is also built upon by the [forty\\_seventy](#) plus graduate programs offered at the Springfield campus.

[In 2018, the Carnegie Classification of Institutions of Higher Education changed the University's designation from "master's colleges and universities" classification to the "doctoral/professional universities" classification. This reclassification recognized the University's growth in professional doctoral programs and degrees awarded.](#)

Although the University is first and foremost a community whose history is the result of dynamic interaction, specific events and points in time characterize its evolution. Faculty may gain a greater appreciation of the unique character of Missouri State by consulting the centennial history of the University, *Daring to Excel: The First 100 Years of Southwest Missouri State University*, by Donald D. Landon, Emeritus Professor of Sociology & Anthropology (Springfield: SMSU, 2004). An earlier monograph, *Shrine of the Ozarks* (Springfield: Southwest Missouri State College, 1968) by Roy Ellis, third President of the University, also captures the spirit of the University, especially during its earlier years. [Copies of both are available in the University Libraries. For a complete history of Missouri State University refer to the History of the University.](#)

31

## 1.2. History

Missouri State University was founded in 1905 as the Fourth District Normal School and in 1919 became Southwest Missouri State Teachers College. The University's primary purpose during the first forty years of its history was the preparation of teachers for the public school system in the southwest region of Missouri.

By the mid-1940s, the University had expanded its instructional program beyond teacher education to include the liberal arts and sciences; as a consequence, the Missouri legislature in 1945 authorized an official change in the institution's name to Southwest Missouri State College. As additional programs were implemented at the undergraduate level, and with the development of graduate programs beginning in 1955, the University had become by 1972 an educationally diverse institution. Recognition of this further growth and development again resulted in an official change in name to Southwest Missouri State University.

By 2005 Southwest Missouri State University had become a comprehensive university in the center of a unique metropolitan region serving a state-wide clientele, attracting students from all 114 counties of Missouri, 48 states, and 81 other countries. The University system now comprises three campuses: a selective admissions campus at Springfield, a research campus at Mountain Grove, and an open admissions campus at West Plains. In addition, the University has an established presence at Dalian and Chongqing, China.

In recognition of the University's focused mission and expanded role, the legislature authorized the institution to become Missouri State University, effective August 28, 2005. It is in this enhanced and evolving environment that University faculty execute a three-fold role: to provide quality teaching, to further scholarship, research, and creative activity, and to provide service.

The University treats these activities as integrated functions. Each draws from and builds upon the strengths of the other. The liberal arts and sciences constitute the structural foundation on which the University's varied undergraduate programs rest. That foundation is also built upon by the [seventy](#) plus graduate programs offered at the Springfield campus.

In 2018, the [Carnegie Classification of Institutions of Higher Education](#) changed the University's designation from "master's colleges and universities" classification to the "doctoral/professional universities" classification. This reclassification recognized the University's growth in professional doctoral programs and degrees awarded.

Although the University is first and foremost a community whose history is the result of dynamic interaction, specific events and points in time characterize its evolution. Faculty may gain a greater appreciation of the unique character of Missouri State by consulting the centennial history of the University, *Daring to Excel: The First 100 Years of Southwest Missouri State University*, by Donald D. Landon, Emeritus Professor of Sociology & Anthropology (Springfield: SMSU, 2004). An earlier monograph, *Shrine of the Ozarks* (Springfield: Southwest Missouri State College, 1968) by Roy Ellis, third President of the University, also captures the spirit of the University, especially during its earlier years.



### 1.3. Accreditation and Approvals

Missouri State University is accredited by The Higher Learning Commission (HLC) and is a member of the North Central Association. The University has been continuously accredited by this body since 1915, and in February 2016, was granted accreditation by the HLC through 2026.

Missouri State University is also professionally accredited or approved by a broad range of organizations. A current list of accreditations may be found on the Program Review, [Approval and Accreditations](#) portion of the Provost's Office website. In addition, faculty and staff maintain memberships in a wide variety of professional organizations relevant to their disciplines.

### 1.4. University Governance

Missouri State University is under the general control and management of the Board of Governors, which, according to statutes of the state of Missouri, possesses full power and authority to adopt all needful rules and regulations for the guidance and supervision of the University. Currently, Missouri State University is governed by a nine-member Board of Governors. All members are appointed by the Governor, with the advice and consent of the Missouri Senate, to serve six-year terms. At least one but not more than two voting members shall be appointed from each congressional district in Missouri. A non-voting member, a current Missouri State University student, also sits on the Board.

The President is the chief executive officer of the University system and is responsible to the Board of Governors for the recommendation of and administration of institutional policies and operation. The senior administrative officers of the University serve as an advisory body to the President and are responsible for specific operational divisions of the University. The Faculty Senate is an elected body of academic faculty established to provide a means of dealing with curricular matters and the concerns of the faculty. The Staff Senate is an elected body from the University support staff [which that](#) addresses concerns related to staff. The Student Government Association provides the means by which students can participate in campus governance, in student discipline, and in the management of student activities.

To formulate policy, to facilitate decision making and to promote a spirit of collegiality, the University is committed to participatory governance and to an open system of communication throughout the University.

Organizational titles and duties are subject to change. See [About Missouri State the Policy Library](#) for the most recent [organizational chart](#).

#### 1.4.1. Administrative Organization

##### 1.4.1.1. President

The President is the chief executive officer of the University, responsible to the Board of Governors for the administration of all policies adopted by the Board and for the execution of all acts of the Board. The president is served by a variety of officers as indicated in the MSU Organizational Chart. The Provost (who also serves as Chancellor for the Mountain Grove Research Campus) has responsibilities most directly related to faculty governance, and the organization under the Provost will be detailed in 1.4.1.2. The President also chairs the Administrative Council. For details of the responsibilities of other officers, see the Policy Library.

##### 1.4.1.2. Provost /Chancellor of the Research Campus at Mountain Grove

The Provost is the senior academic officer of the University. Responsibilities include the overall direction, development, and administration of academic affairs; ~~and the Research Campus at Mountain Grove~~. Academic Affairs includes all academic and scholarly programs of the University, including the ~~six~~ academic colleges, the Graduate College, ~~and~~ Library Services.

~~and Academic Outreach.~~

### 1.3. Accreditation and Approvals

Missouri State University is accredited by The Higher Learning Commission (HLC) and is a member of the North Central Association. The University has been continuously accredited by this body since 1915, and in February 2016, was granted accreditation by the HLC through 2026.

Missouri State University is also professionally accredited or approved by a broad range of organizations. A current list of accreditations may be found on the Program Review, Approval and Accreditations portion of the Provost's Office website. In addition, faculty and staff maintain memberships in a wide variety of professional organizations relevant to their disciplines.

### 1.4. University Governance

Missouri State University is under the general control and management of the Board of Governors, which, according to statutes of the state of Missouri, possesses full power and authority to adopt all needful rules and regulations for the guidance and supervision of the University. Currently, Missouri State University is governed by a nine-member Board of Governors. All members are appointed by the Governor, with the advice and consent of the Missouri Senate, to serve six-year terms. At least one but not more than two voting members shall be appointed from each congressional district in Missouri. A non-voting member, a current Missouri State University student, also sits on the Board.

The President is the chief executive officer of the University system and is responsible to the Board of Governors for the recommendation of and administration of institutional policies and operation. The senior administrative officers of the University serve as an advisory body to the President and are responsible for specific operational divisions of the University. The Faculty Senate is an elected body of academic faculty established to provide a means of dealing with curricular matters and the concerns of the faculty. The Staff Senate is an elected body from the University support staff that addresses concerns related to staff. The Student Government Association provides the means by which students can participate in campus governance, in student discipline, and in the management of student activities.

To formulate policy, to facilitate decision making and to promote a spirit of collegiality, the University is committed to participatory governance and to an open system of communication throughout the University.

Organizational titles and duties are subject to change. See About [Missouri State](#) for the most recent [organizational chart](#).

#### 1.4.1. Administrative Organization

##### 1.4.1.1. President

The President is the chief executive officer of the University, responsible to the Board of Governors for the administration of all policies adopted by the Board and for the execution of all acts of the Board. The president is served by a variety of officers as indicated in the MSU Organizational Chart. The Provost (who also serves as Chancellor for the Mountain Grove Research Campus) has responsibilities most directly related to faculty governance, and the organization under the Provost will be detailed in 1.4.1.2. The President also chairs the Administrative Council. For details of the responsibilities of other officers, see the Policy Library.

##### 1.4.1.2. Provost

The Provost is the senior academic officer of the University. Responsibilities include the overall direction, development, and administration of academic affairs. Academic Affairs includes all academic and scholarly programs of the University, including the six academic colleges, the Graduate College, and Library Services.



41 **1.4.1.2.1. Deputy Provost-Chief Academic Strategy Officer and Associate Provosts**

42 The Deputy Provost-Chief Academic Strategy officer and Associate Provosts serve as assistants to the Provost in all  
43 functions, with special responsibility for faculty relations and ~~diversity~~inclusive excellence, undergraduate programs  
44 and studies, graduate programs and the graduate college, Registrar, Faculty Center for Teaching and Learning  
45 (FCTL), Citizenship and Service Learning (CASL), and Office of Institutional Effectiveness, public affairs, and the  
46 Extended Campus.

3 **1.4.1.2.2 Associate Provost for Institutional Effectiveness**

4 The Associate Provost for Institutional Effectiveness, overseeing the Office of Institutional Research and the Office  
5 of Assessment and Accreditation as part of the Institutional Effectiveness structure, provides information which  
6 supports institutional planning, policy formulation, and decision making.

7  
8 **1.4.1.2.3. Associate Provost and Dean of Graduate College**

9 The Associate Provost for Institutional Effectiveness, overseeing the Office of Institutional Research and the Office  
10 of Accreditation as part of the Institutional Effectiveness structure, provides information which-that supports  
11 institutional planning, policy formulation, and decision making.

12  
13 The Associate Provost and Dean of the Graduate College is responsible for administration of graduate programs and  
14 internal research funds.

15  
16 **1.4.1.2.4. College Deans**

17 Each of the College Deans is responsible for the administration of one of the six eight discipline-based colleges.  
18 Responsibilities include faculty recruitment and development, faculty evaluation, program development, program  
19 review, student advisement, collegiate budgeting and budget control, class schedule planning, and general supervision  
20 of the scholarship, research, creative activity, and instructional and service activities of the college.

21  
22 **1.4.1.2.5. Dean of the Library Services**

23 The Dean of the Library Services is administratively responsible for all services, budgeting, and supervision of the  
24 MSU Libraries. The Dean also serves as Head of the Department of Library Science, an academic unit that is not part  
25 of one of the seven six discipline-based Colleges. Because the Dean also serves as Head of the Department of Library  
26 Science, any process for which a recommendation made by a department head normally would proceed to a dean for  
27 further review, approval, or recommendation, will proceed directly from the Dean to the Provost.

28  
29 **1.4.1.2.5. Director of Institutional Research**

30 The Director of Institutional Research provides information which supports institutional planning, policy formulation,  
31 and decision making.

32

22 **1.4.1.2.1. Chief Academic Strategy Officer and Associate Provosts**

23 The Chief Academic Strategy officer and Associate Provosts serve as assistants to the Provost in all functions, with  
24 special responsibility for faculty relations and inclusive excellence, undergraduate programs and studies, graduate  
25 programs and the graduate college, Registrar, Faculty Center for Teaching and Learning (FCTL), Citizenship and  
26 Service Learning (CASL), and Office of Institutional Effectiveness.

27  
28 **1.4.1.2.2 Associate Provost for Institutional Effectiveness**

29 The Associate Provost for Institutional Effectiveness, overseeing the Office of Institutional Research and the Office  
30 of Assessment and Accreditation as part of the Institutional Effectiveness structure, provides information which  
31 supports institutional planning, policy formulation, and decision making.

32  
33 **1.4.1.2.3. Dean of Graduate College**

34 The Associate Provost for Institutional Effectiveness, overseeing the Office of Institutional Research and the Office  
35 of Accreditation as part of the Institutional Effectiveness structure, provides information that supports institutional  
36 planning, policy formulation, and decision making.

37 The Dean of the Graduate College is responsible for administration of graduate programs and internal research funds.

38  
39  
40 **1.4.1.2.4. College Deans**

41 Each of the College Deans is responsible for the administration of one of the six discipline-based colleges.  
42 Responsibilities include faculty recruitment and development, faculty evaluation, program development, program  
43 review, student advisement, collegiate budgeting and budget control, class schedule planning, and general supervision  
44 of the scholarship, research, creative activity, and instructional and service activities of the college.

1  
2 **1.4.1.2.5. Dean of the Library**

3 The Dean of the Library is administratively responsible for all services, budgeting, and supervision of the MSU  
4 Libraries. The Dean also serves as Head of the Department of Library Science, an academic unit that is not part of  
5 one of the six discipline-based Colleges. Because the Dean also serves as Head of the Department of Library Science,  
6 any process for which a recommendation made by a department head normally would proceed to a dean for further  
7 review, approval, or recommendation, will proceed directly from the Dean to the Provost.

8

32  
33  
34  
35  
36  
37  
38  
39  
40  
41  
42  
43  
44  
45  
46  
  
1  
2  
3  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
10  
11  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28  
29

**1.4.1.2.6. Department Heads and School Director**~~Academic Unit Leaders~~

~~Depending on the structure of each College, the Academic Unit Leader (AUL) may be a School Director or a Department Head; this person is responsible for administering the programs within their academic unit. Responsibilities include faculty recruitment and development, faculty evaluation, program administration, program review, student advisement, departmental budgeting and budget control, class schedule planning, and general supervision of the scholarship, research, and creative activity of the programs within the school or department. Throughout the Faculty Handbook, the term AUL should be construed to include those School Directors or Department Heads responsible for faculty evaluations.~~  
~~Each Department Head is responsible for administering one of the academic departments of the University. Responsibilities include faculty recruitment and development, faculty evaluation, program administration, program review, student advisement, departmental budgeting and budget control, class schedule planning, and general supervision of the scholarship, research, and creative activity of the department.~~

Some academic units are designated as Schools primarily upon the recommendation of accrediting agencies, and such

~~a designation indicates the unit's involvement in and integration into an external professional environment which usually requires specific standards for licensure. The chief administrator of a School is its Director. A School that does not include more than one department is a professional unit which that in all respects has the same status, responsibilities, and benefits as an academic department, and its Director fulfills the same roles as a Department Head. When a School includes two or more departmental units (with Department Heads), its Director will be responsible for co-curricular, professional, and accreditation matters, but will not have the responsibilities of a Department Head for faculty evaluations. Throughout the Faculty Handbook, the term Department Head should be construed to include those School Directors responsible for faculty evaluations.~~

**1.4.1.2.7. Program Directors for Free-Standing Academic Units**

There are some programs that function as independent academic units, i.e., units whose faculty are not also members of existing departments or schools, and that establish and manage their own curriculum. The Directors of such units will have the same roles and responsibilities as ~~Department Head~~AULs.

**1.4.1.2.8 Program Directors/Coordinators**

~~In successful programs, program directors/coordinators (graduate & undergraduate) work closely with AULs to establish annual targets and expectations, as well as to secure resources for the program and coordinate the collective efforts of staff and faculty towards program and student success. No two programs work identically, but program directors/coordinators proactively seek to ensure student success by fulfilling existing expectations for that role. When clearly stipulated by a program's accrediting body, a program director may have the same roles and responsibilities as an AUL. Depending on the extent of responsibility assumed, program directors/coordinators may receive allocated time in their workload, a stipend, or other forms of compensation as negotiated with the Dean of the College.~~  
~~In successful programs, program directors/coordinators (graduate & undergraduate) work closely with department heads to establish annual targets and expectations, as well as to secure resources for the program and coordinate the collective efforts of department staff and faculty towards student success. No two programs work identically, but program directors/coordinators proactively seek to ensure student success by fulfilling existing expectations for that role. Depending on the extent of responsibility assumed, program directors/coordinators may receive allocated time in their workload, a stipend, or other forms of compensation.~~

8  
9  
10  
11  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17

**1.4.1.2.6. Academic Unit Leaders**

Depending on the structure of each College, the Academic Unit Leader (AUL) may be a School Director or a Department Head; this person is responsible for administering the programs within their academic unit. Responsibilities include faculty recruitment and development, faculty evaluation, program administration, program review, student advisement, departmental budgeting and budget control, class schedule planning, and general supervision of the scholarship, research, and creative activity of the programs within the school or department. Throughout the Faculty Handbook, the term AUL should be construed to include those School Directors or Department Heads responsible for faculty evaluations.

17

**1.4.1.2.7. Program Directors for Free-Standing Academic Units**

There are some programs that function as independent academic units, i.e., units whose faculty are not also members of existing departments or schools, and that establish and manage their own curriculum. The Directors of such units will have the same roles and responsibilities as AULs.

**1.4.1.2.8 Program Directors/Coordinators**

In successful programs, program directors/coordinators (graduate & undergraduate) work closely with AULs to establish annual targets and expectations, as well as to secure resources for the program and coordinate the collective efforts of staff and faculty towards program and student success. No two programs work identically, but program directors/coordinators proactively seek to ensure student success by fulfilling existing expectations for that role. When clearly stipulated by a program's accrediting body, a program director may have the same roles and responsibilities as an AUL. Depending on the extent of responsibility assumed, program directors/coordinators may receive allocated time in their workload, a stipend, or other forms of compensation as negotiated with the Dean of the College.

21



30 **1.4.1.3. Vice President for Community and Global Partnerships Research, Economic Development, and**  
31 **International Programs**

32 The Vice President for ~~Community~~Community and Global Partnerships Research, Economic Development, and  
33 ~~International Programs~~ is responsible for the University's research and economic development activities. These  
34 include the Office of Research Administration, the Center for Applied Science and Engineering (CASE), Jordan  
35 Valley Innovation Center (JVIC), China Programs, International Programs, ~~Center for Biomedical and Life Sciences~~  
36 ~~(CBLS)~~, Springfield Innovation Inc., the eFactory, ~~Management Development Institute (MDI)~~, Small Business and  
37 ~~Technology~~-Development Center (SBDC), and ~~Ozarks Public Broadcasting Services~~. Each of these programs supports  
38 the University's mission in public affairs by creating an environment that encourages, supports and values research,  
39 scholarship, creative activity, and community and international outreach.

40  
41 **1.4.1.4. Administrative Council**

42 The Administrative Council is chaired by the President. The Council includes the Provost, Executive Vice President,  
43 the Vice Presidents, Chief Information Officer, Assistant to the President for Inclusive Engagement, the Chancellor  
44 of the West Plains campus, the Athletic Director, the Chief of Staff, the Chief Financial Officer, the Internal Auditor,  
45 the Secretary to the Board of Governors, one college Dean, and the General Counsel and Vice President Legal Affairs  
46 & Compliance. When appropriate to the agenda for a particular meeting, others may be invited as guests. The  
47 Administrative Council discusses items of University-wide issues.

32 **1.4.1.3. Vice President for Community and Global Partnerships**

33 The Vice President for Community and Global Partnerships is responsible for the University's research and economic  
34 development activities. These include the Office of Research Administration, the Center for Applied Science and  
35 Engineering (CASE), Jordan Valley Innovation Center (JVIC), China Programs, International Programs, Springfield  
36 Innovation Inc., the eFactory, Small Business Development Center (SBDC), and Ozarks Public Broadcasting. Each  
37 of these programs supports the University's mission in public affairs by creating an environment that encourages,  
38 supports and values research, scholarship, creative activity, and community and international outreach.

40 **1.4.1.4. Administrative Council**

41 The Administrative Council is chaired by the President. The Council includes the Provost, Executive Vice President,  
42 the Vice Presidents, Chief Information Officer, Assistant to the President for Inclusive Engagement, the Chancellor  
43 of the West Plains campus, the Athletic Director, the Internal Auditor, the Secretary to the Board of Governors, one  
44 college Dean, and the General Counsel and Vice President Legal Affairs & Compliance. When appropriate to the  
45 agenda for a particular meeting, others may be invited as guests. The Administrative Council discusses items of  
46 University-wide issues.

## 1.4.2. Academic Governance

### 1.4.2.1. Academic Leadership Council

The Academic Leadership Council (ALC) is the advisory committee that works with the Provost. The body is composed of the Chief Academic Strategy Officer, all Associate and/or Assistant Provosts; Academic Deans; and the Senior Academic Financial Officer. The Chairperson and Chair-person elect of the Faculty Senate will routinely attend ALC; and other individuals in leadership positions from the campus community are periodically invited to attend meetings at the Provost's discretion.

### 1.4.2.2. The Faculty Senate

The Faculty Senate, established by the Constitution of the Faculty, is an elected body of faculty composed of the officers, including the Chairperson, the Chairperson-elect, and the Secretary of the Faculty; one Senator from each academic unit (department, department or school); representatives of the ranked faculty, one Senator from each rank; one Senator as a representative of Instructors; delegates comprised of the chairs of the Faculty Senate standing committees; student representatives, one delegate from the Student Government Association, one delegate from the graduate Student Council; and a delegate position filled by the chair of the Staff Senate.

The Senate provides a structure for curricular review and a forum for discussing matters of eeneern importance to the Faculty and distributes information on Faculty Senate concerns, findings, and actions to all segments of the academic community.

The functions of faculty governance are also carried out by the College Councils, the Educational Preparation Provider Council (EPPC), Professional Education Committee, the Committee on General Education and Intercollegiate Programs (CGEIP), the Graduate Council, and by various other committees established by the Constitution and Bylaws of the Faculty.

The Constitution and Bylaws of the Faculty are available in the Faculty Senate Office.

### 1.4.2.3. Graduate Council

The Graduate Council is a standing committee of Faculty Senate and is composed of one representative from each graduate program and the President of the Graduate Student Council. The Director of Admissions and Records, the Dean of Library Services, and the Associate Provost and Dean of the Graduate College serve as non-voting members of the Graduate Council. The Graduate Council recommends policy governing graduate studies and recommends action on graduate curricular matters.

### 1.4.2.4. College Councils

A College Council in each of the discipline-based discipline-based colleges, being a stranding committee of Faculty Senate, is composed of one member from each department/school of the college and may include one student representative, majoring in a discipline in that college. The Dean of the college is an ex-officio member of the College Council without vote. Each College Council acts upon curricular matters referred to it by programs, departments, or schools within the college.

## 1.4.2. Academic Governance

### 1.4.2.1. Academic Leadership Council

The Academic Leadership Council (ALC) is the advisory committee that works with the Provost. The body is composed of the Chief Academic Strategy Officer, Associate Provosts; Academic Deans; and the Senior Academic Financial Officer. The Chairperson and Chair-person elect of the Faculty Senate will routinely attend ALC; and other individuals in leadership positions from the campus community are periodically invited to attend meetings at the Provost's discretion.

### 1.4.2.2. The Faculty Senate

The Faculty Senate, established by the Constitution of the Faculty, is an elected body of faculty composed of the officers, including the Chairperson, the Chairperson-elect, and the Secretary of the Faculty; one Senator from each academic unit (department or school); representatives of the ranked faculty, one Senator from each rank; one Senator as a representative of Instructors; delegates comprised of the chairs of the Faculty Senate standing committees; student representatives, one delegate from the Student Government Association, one delegate from the graduate Student Council; and a delegate position filled by the chair of the Staff Senate.

The Senate provides a structure for curricular review and a forum for discussing matters of importance to the Faculty and distributes information on Faculty Senate concerns, findings, and actions to all segments of the academic community.

The functions of faculty governance are also carried out by the College Councils, the Educational Preparation Provider Council (EPPC), the Committee on General Education and Intercollegiate Programs (CGEIP), the Graduate Council, and by various other committees established by the Constitution and Bylaws of the Faculty.

The Constitution and Bylaws of the Faculty are available in the Faculty Senate Office.

1.4.2.3/4, Omitted for clarity--these are elements of Faculty Senate structure/functions, not the University structure

35 **1.4.3. Staff Senate**

36 The purpose of the [Staff Senate](#) is to represent the staff employees as a fact-finding, deliberative and consultative  
37 body that makes studies, reports, and recommendations on behalf of its constituency. Representatives serve to foster  
38 the growth and welfare of the staff.

40 **1.4.4. Student Government Association**

41 The Constitution of the [Student Government Association](#) is available in the Office of the Student Government

2 **1.4.5. University Committee Structure**

3 Several committees are appointed by the members of the Administrative Council, the purpose of which is to assist in  
4 the on-going administrative work of the institution. Such committees perform a wide variety of tasks; for example,  
5 ensuring conformity with legal requirements for the disposal of toxic wastes, planning the academic calendar, and  
6 planning lectures and programs in the performing arts for the campus community. Faculty members routinely serve  
7 on such committees.

9 Faculty members also serve on committees ~~which-that~~ are appointed by and serve in an advisory capacity to the  
10 members of the Administrative Council. ~~These committees deal with many issues; for example, faculty and staff~~  
11 ~~parking, services for handicapped students, and student personnel policies.~~

13 Faculty members also serve on a number of other standing committees, functions of which involve matters of vital  
14 interest to the faculty. Unless otherwise specified in the action establishing a particular committee, faculty members  
15 serving on these committees are appointed by the President of the University or the Provost based on faculty interests,  
16 expertise, and recommendations by the Faculty Senate Executive Committee (or some other duly constituted Senate  
17 body designated by the Faculty Senate). These committees report to the appointing academic administrator and also  
18 have a duty to keep the Faculty Senate fully informed of their proceedings and the results of those proceedings.

**1.4.3. Staff Senate**

The purpose of the [Staff Senate](#) is to represent the staff employees as a fact-finding, deliberative and consultative  
body that makes studies, reports, and recommendations on behalf of its constituency. Representatives serve to foster  
the growth and welfare of the staff.

**1.4.4. Student Government Association**

The Constitution of the [Student Government Association](#) is available in the Office of the Student Government  
Association.

**1.4.5. University Committee Structure**

8  
32 Several committees are appointed by the members of the Administrative Council, the purpose of which is to assist in  
33 the ongoing administrative work of the institution. Such committees perform a wide variety of tasks; for example,  
34 ensuring conformity with legal requirements for the disposal of toxic wastes, planning the academic calendar, and  
35 planning lectures and programs in the performing arts for the campus community. Faculty members routinely serve  
36 on such committees.

37  
38 Faculty members also serve on committees that are appointed by and serve in an advisory capacity to the members  
39 of the Administrative Council. Faculty members also serve on a number of other standing committees, functions of  
40 which involve matters of vital interest to the faculty. Unless otherwise specified in the action establishing a particular  
41 committee, faculty members serving on these committees are appointed by the President of the University or the  
42 Provost based on faculty interests, expertise, and recommendations by the Faculty Senate Executive Committee (or  
43 some other duly constituted Senate body designated by the Faculty Senate). These committees report to the appointing  
44 academic administrator and also have a duty to keep the Faculty Senate fully informed of their proceedings and the  
1 results of those proceedings.



## 2. RECRUITMENT AND EMPLOYMENT

### 2.1. Core Commitments

As a university with a Public Affairs mission, Missouri State University is deeply committed to developing educated persons equipped to contribute to the interdependent world in which we now live. The ability to adapt to rapid economic, social, and cultural changes is imperative. An understanding of [inclusive excellence](#), diverse cultures, and societies has not only become necessary to function in today's workplace, but also enriches one's life and work. Therefore, Missouri State University has a deep and abiding commitment to [diversityinclusive excellence](#) as a core institutional value and responsibility because [diversity-inclusivity](#) is central to providing and maintaining a quality educational environment.

Missouri State University values programs and practices that assure an environment free of discrimination established by a shared commitment to the principles of [diversityinclusivity](#), nondiscrimination and affirmative action. Missouri State University treats all persons solely as individuals on the basis of their own personal abilities, qualifications, and relevant characteristics. (See website for [Office of Inclusive EngagementDivision for Diversity and Inclusion](#).)

### 2.2. Equal Opportunity and Affirmative Action Policy

~~Missouri State University is an equal employment opportunity employer. To assure full compliance and implementation of this policy, Missouri State University, through its various administrative officers, shall ensure that for all jobs, policies involving for recruitment, promotion, transfer, compensation, benefits, layoffs, returns from layoffs, educational programs, and all other University-sponsored programs, benefits, services, and aids, shall be administered consistent with the University's Non-Discrimination Policy Statement. Specifically, policies shall be administered without regard to age, ancestry, color, creed, disability, marital or parental status, national origin, participation in constitutionally protected activities, political affiliations or beliefs, race, religion (belief or non-belief), sex, sexual orientation, or disabled and/or veteran status. In addition, the University does not discriminate on any basis not related to the applicable job requirements for employees. Reasonable accommodation on the basis of religion or disability is assured.~~

~~The University's Equal Opportunity and Affirmative Action Policy is available at the , and the University's Affirmative Action Plan is available at the website for the Office for Institutional Equity and Compliance. Overall responsibility for monitoring these policies and reporting on the University's equal employment opportunity and affirmative action program is assigned to the University's Equal Opportunity Officer.~~

~~Missouri State University is committed to programs and practices that assure an environment free of the barriers of discrimination in education and employment and that establish a collegial and just community. The following University-wide Governing and Operating Policies demonstrate this commitment:~~

~~[G1.05 Non-Discrimination Policy Statement](#)~~

~~[G1.31 Reporting Allegations of Discrimination on the Basis of a Protected Class](#)~~

~~[Op1.02-2 Discrimination Complaint and Investigation Procedures](#)~~

~~[Op1.02-6 Equal Opportunity and Affirmative Action Policy](#)~~

~~[Op7.10 Guidelines for Hiring Faculty, Academic Administrators and Executive, Administrative and Professional Staff](#)~~

~~Note: These and other University-wide Governing and Operating Policies are accessible via the University's Policy Library.~~

~~Under the authority and supervision of the President, the Equal Opportunity Officer is responsible for developing system-wide policies pertaining to equal opportunity, equal access, and affirmative action in cooperation with other University officers. The Equal Opportunity Officer serves as a liaison with the Provost, Vice Presidents, members of the Academic Council, and other Missouri State University administrators in monitoring and recommending~~

~~policies and procedures regarding equal employment and educational opportunities for faculty, staff, and students.~~

## 2. RECRUITMENT AND EMPLOYMENT

### 2.1. Core Commitments

As a university with a Public Affairs mission, Missouri State University is deeply committed to developing educated persons equipped to contribute to the interdependent world in which we now live. The ability to adapt to rapid economic, social, and cultural changes is imperative. An understanding of inclusive excellence, diverse cultures, and societies has not only become necessary to function in today's workplace, but also enriches one's life and work. Therefore, Missouri State University has a deep and abiding commitment to inclusive excellence as a core institutional value and responsibility because inclusivity is central to providing and maintaining a quality educational environment.

Missouri State University values programs and practices that assure an environment free of discrimination established by a shared commitment to the principles of inclusivity, nondiscrimination and affirmative action. Missouri State University treats all persons solely as individuals on the basis of their own personal abilities, qualifications, and relevant characteristics. (See website for [Office of Inclusive Engagement](#).)

### 2.2. Equal Opportunity and Affirmative Action Policy

Missouri State University is committed to programs and practices that assure an environment free of the barriers of discrimination in education and employment and that establish a collegial and just community. The following University-wide Governing and Operating Policies demonstrate this commitment:

[G1.05 Non-Discrimination Policy Statement](#)

[G1.31 Reporting Allegations of Discrimination on the Basis of a Protected Class](#)

[Op1.02-2 Discrimination Complaint and Investigation Procedures](#)

[Op1.02-6 Equal Opportunity and Affirmative Action Policy](#)

[Op7.10 Guidelines for Hiring Faculty, Academic Administrators and Executive, Administrative and Professional Staff](#)

Note: These and other University-wide Governing and Operating Policies are accessible via the [University's Policy Library](#).

Under the authority and supervision of the President, the Equal Opportunity Officer is responsible for developing system-wide policies pertaining to equal opportunity, equal access, and affirmative action in cooperation with other University officers. The Equal Opportunity Officer serves as a liaison with the Provost, Vice Presidents, members of the Academic Council, and other Missouri State University administrators in monitoring and recommending policies and procedures regarding equal employment and educational opportunities for faculty, staff, and students.

In progress. We will return with updates on these sections.



## 2.3. Hiring Procedures

### 2.3.1. Equal Opportunity Hiring

Missouri State University is an equal opportunity and affirmative action employer. Academic search guidelines provide open and uniform procedures to be followed by all hiring units and search committees in defining and filling vacant and new positions. Every major administrator, hiring administrator, and search committee participant has responsibility to ensure full implementation of the University's non-discrimination policies and affirmative action program. Complete search guidelines are available online at the Human Resources Policies section of the [Policy Library](#).

### 2.3.2. Nepotism

The University's policy regarding the employment of relatives is set forth in the nepotism provision ([G.7.02-2.12](#)) of the Human Resources Policies section of the [Policy Library](#). The policy does not prohibit the appointment of more than one member of a family to the same academic department or to another position within the University.

No Governor, officer, faculty, or employee shall participate, either directly or indirectly, in a decision to appoint or hire an employee of the University, either part-time or full-time, who is related to such person within the fourth degree of consanguinity (blood) or affinity (marriage). It also shall be a violation of this policy for an employee to supervise, either directly or indirectly, the work of another employee who is related within such fourth degree, unless the supervisory role is specifically approved by the President of the University.

A relative within the fourth degree includes, but is not limited to, spouse, child, grandchild, great-grandchild, great-great-grandchild, parent, grandparent, great-grandparent, brother/sister, aunt/uncle, great-aunt/uncle, niece/nephew, grand-niece/nephew, and cousin. For University purposes, this also includes sponsored dependents. All relationships are included, whether full-, half, step-, adopted, or in-law.

An employee or supervisor who has a question pertaining to the relatives covered by the University's nepotism policy should contact the ~~department head~~[AUL](#) or the Office of Human Resources.

### 2.3.3. Hiring~~Employment of~~ Foreign Nationals

Missouri State University will process visa petitions and applications on behalf of foreign nationals in order to further academic goals of the university. ~~Employment of foreign nationals will depend upon their work eligibility per U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services (USCIS) regulations and payment will depend upon their eligible work visas and international tax laws per Internal Revenue Service (IRS) regulations. Decisions to hire foreign nationals may be influenced by U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services (USCIS) regulations and relevant Internal Revenue Service (IRS) regulations.~~ The University's policy regarding the Employment of Foreign Nationals is set forth addressed in the Human Resources Policies section of the [Policy Library](#) (See [Op7.08 Employment of Foreign Nationals](#)).

### 2.4. Identification Cards

Every academic employee is issued an identification card by the [Bear-Pass Office](#). Full-time faculty members may also secure an identification card for a spouse or sponsored dependent.

## 2.3. Hiring Procedures

### 2.3.1. Equal Opportunity Hiring

Missouri State University is an equal opportunity and affirmative action employer. Academic search guidelines provide open and uniform procedures to be followed by all hiring units and search committees in defining and filling vacant and new positions. Every major administrator, hiring administrator, and search committee participant has responsibility to ensure full implementation of the University's non-discrimination policies and affirmative action program. Complete search guidelines are available online at the Human Resources Policies section of the [Policy Library](#).

### 2.3.2. Nepotism

The University's policy regarding the employment of relatives is set forth in the nepotism provision ([G.7.02-2.12](#)) of the Human Resources Policies section of the [Policy Library](#). The policy does not prohibit the appointment of more than one member of a family to the same academic department or to another position within the University.

No Governor, officer, faculty, or employee shall participate, either directly or indirectly, in a decision to appoint or hire an employee of the University, either part-time or full-time, who is related to such person within the fourth degree of consanguinity (blood) or affinity (marriage). It also shall be a violation of this policy for an employee to supervise, either directly or indirectly, the work of another employee who is related within such fourth degree, unless the supervisory role is specifically approved by the President of the University.

A relative within the fourth degree includes, but is not limited to, spouse, child, grandchild, great-grandchild, great-great-grandchild, parent, grandparent, great-grandparent, brother/sister, aunt/uncle, great-aunt/uncle, niece/nephew, grand-niece/nephew, and cousin. For University purposes, this also includes sponsored dependents. All relationships are included, whether full-, half, step-, adopted, or in-law.

An employee or supervisor who has a question pertaining to the relatives covered by the University's nepotism policy should contact the [AUL](#) or the Office of Human Resources.

### 2.3.3. Employment of Foreign Nationals

Missouri State University will process visa petitions and applications on behalf of foreign nationals in order to further academic goals of the university. Employment of foreign nationals will depend upon their work eligibility per U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services (USCIS) regulations and payment will depend upon their eligible work visas and international tax laws per Internal Revenue Service (IRS) regulations. The University's policy regarding the Employment of Foreign Nationals is set forth addressed in the Human Resources Policies section of the [Policy Library](#) (See [Op7.08 Employment of Foreign Nationals](#)).

### 2.4. Identification Cards

Every academic employee is issued an identification card by the [BearPass Office](#). Full-time faculty members may also secure an identification card for a spouse or sponsored dependent.

44  
45 **2.5. Personnel Records**  
46 The University maintains official personnel files for each faculty member in the Office of Human Resources. This  
47 record includes the vita, recommendations, official transcripts of academic work, and correspondence and records  
1 dealing with terms and conditions of employment. Additional personnel files (digital or hard copy) containing similar  
2 information are also kept by the college Dean and the School-Director or Department-Head-AUL. Select personnel  
3 records for faculty, including but not limited to tenure, promotion and reappointment and annual evaluations, are  
4 digitally stored in Watermark Faculty Success. All personnel files, that is, files maintained in the offices of Human  
5 Resources, the Department-Head/School-Director-AUL, the Dean, the Provost and the President, are considered in  
6 aggregate as the official personnel file.  
7  
8 The personnel files are available to the members of the Board of Governors, the Administration and its agents, and as  
9 otherwise required by law where necessary to allow the University to comply with law and standard business practices.  
10 School-Directors and Department-Head-AULs may examine the personnel files of the faculty members of their own  
11 schools or departments academic units only.  
12  
13 Faculty members may review information from their own personnel files on request and in the presence of a designated  
14 University official, copies of vitae and official transcripts of academic work, placement papers if not confidential  
15 (such as letters of recommendation), correspondence with University officials, salary information, performance  
16 evaluations and appraisals, written complaints, and commendations that have previously been discussed with the  
17 faculty member.  
18  
19 Faculty members may submit and have inserted into their personnel files a statement which clarifies any material in  
20 the file which they believe is inaccurate. Said clarification shall be maintained so long as the disputed material is  
21 maintained.  
22  
23 It is the responsibility of each faculty member who completes a degree while employed at Missouri State University  
24 to have an official transcript, which includes the date on which the degree was conferred, sent to the Provost's Office.  
25 It is also required that faculty members notify the Office of Human Resources of any address changes or any other  
26 changes related to personnel records so that such information may be kept current. Employees may be asked to provide  
27 written authorization to release copies of documents from an employee file to a third party.  
28  
29 **2.6. Release of Employment Information**  
30 Employees' names, job titles, and salaries are provided to the State of Missouri for publication in the Missouri Official  
31 Manual.  
32  
33 The Office of Human Resources will verifyprovide the current or former employee's date of hire, position, department,  
34 and release salary information, if a signed release form is submitted to human resources. Requests for any additional  
35 information beyond these items must be made in writing and will require the consent of the employee. The University's  
36 policy regarding the release of employment information is set forth in the Policy Library (See G7.02-3 Employment  
37 Policies and Procedures).  
38

--  
30 **2.5. Personnel Records**  
31 The University maintains official personnel files for each faculty member in the Office of Human Resources. This  
32 record includes the vita, recommendations, official transcripts of academic work, and correspondence and records  
33 dealing with terms and conditions of employment. Additional personnel files (digital or hard copy) containing similar  
34 information are also kept by the college Dean and the AUL Select personnel records for faculty, including but not  
35 limited to tenure, promotion and reappointment and annual evaluations, are digitally stored in Watermark Faculty  
36 Success. All personnel files, that is, files maintained in the offices of Human Resources, the AUL, the Dean, the  
37 Provost and the President, are considered in aggregate as the official personnel file.  
38  
39 The personnel files are available to the members of the Board of Governors, the Administration and its agents, and as  
40 otherwise required by law where necessary to allow the University to comply with law and standard business practices.  
41 AULs may examine the personnel files of the faculty members of their own academic units only.  
42  
43 Faculty members may review information from their own personnel files on request and in the presence of a designated  
44 University official, copies of vitae and official transcripts of academic work, placement papers if not confidential  
45 (such as letters of recommendation), correspondence with University officials, salary information, performance  
46 evaluations and appraisals, written complaints, and commendations that have previously been discussed with the  
47 faculty member.  
48  
49 Faculty members may submit and have inserted into their personnel files a statement which clarifies any material in  
1 the file which they believe is inaccurate. Said clarification shall be maintained so long as the disputed material is  
2 maintained.  
3  
4 It is the responsibility of each faculty member who completes a degree while employed at Missouri State University  
5 to have an official transcript, which includes the date on which the degree was conferred, sent to the Provost's Office.  
6 It is also required that faculty members notify the Office of Human Resources of any address changes or any other  
7 changes related to personnel records so that such information may be kept current. Employees may be asked to provide  
8 written authorization to release copies of documents from an employee file to a third party.  
9  
10 **2.6. Release of Employment Information**  
11 Employees' names, job titles, and salaries are provided to the State of Missouri for publication in the Missouri Official  
12 Manual.  
13  
14 The Office of Human Resources will verify the current or former employee's date of hire, position, department, and  
15 release salary information, if a signed release form is submitted to human resources. Requests for any additional  
16 information beyond these items must be made in writing and will require the consent of the employee. The University's  
17 policy regarding the release of employment information is set forth in the Policy Library (See G7.02-3 Employment  
18 Policies and Procedures).  
19



1  
2  
3  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
10  
11  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28  
29  
30  
31  
32  
33  
34  
35  
36  
37  
38  
39  
40  
41  
42  
43  
44  
45

**3. ACADEMIC PERSONNEL POLICIES**

**3.1. Academic Responsibilities, Ethics, and Freedom**

A faculty member at Missouri State University assumes responsibility for Teaching, Research, and Service, along with obligations inherent in membership in a learned profession. Essential to fulfilling these responsibilities and obligations are adherence to standards of ethical conduct and respect for academic freedom.

In developing a statement of faculty responsibilities and ethical standards, Missouri State University subscribes to the belief, long held by the learned professions, that self-regulation is preferable to any externally imposed discipline.

In a University faculty it is, therefore, desirable that the most stringent obligations be laid upon individual Professors that, so far as possible, any serious breach of duties be judged by colleagues who are well acquainted with the problems and practices of a specialized field. Only in cases of the most serious violations of professional responsibilities shall the academic profession regulate itself by calling upon a group representative of the whole faculty to deal with faults that could have been avoided either by individual self-control or by departmental discipline as specified in the [Professional Practices Review Process \(PPRP\)](#) ~~process-of-grievance~~ (Refer to [Chapter 13](#)).

**3.1.1. Responsibilities And Ethics**

The University recognizes that all faculty have responsibilities in the development of citizen scholars and that those responsibilities must be grounded in ethical standards. The University endorses the following Statement on Professional Ethics from the American Association of University Professors (2009). The AAUP language specifically addresses “professors,” but the standards are applicable to all faculty.

Professors, guided by a deep conviction of the worth and dignity of the advancement of knowledge, recognize the special responsibilities placed upon them. Their primary responsibility to their subject is to seek and to state the truth as they see it. To this end professors devote their energies to developing and improving their scholarly competence. They accept the obligation to exercise critical self-discipline and judgment in using, extending, and transmitting knowledge. They practice intellectual honesty. Although professors may follow subsidiary interests, these interests must never seriously hamper or compromise their freedom of inquiry.

As teachers, professors encourage the free pursuit of learning in their students. They hold before them the best scholarly and ethical standards of their discipline. Professors demonstrate respect for students as individuals and adhere to their proper roles as intellectual guides and counselors. Professors make every reasonable effort to foster honest academic conduct and to ensure that their evaluations of students reflect each student’s true merit. They respect the confidential nature of the relationship between professor and student. They avoid any exploitation, harassment, or discriminatory treatment of students. They acknowledge significant academic or scholarly assistance from them. They protect their academic freedom.

As colleagues, professors have obligations that derive from common membership in the community of scholars. Professors do not discriminate against or harass colleagues. They respect and defend the free inquiry of associates, even when it leads to findings and conclusions that differ from their own. Professors acknowledge academic debt and strive to be objective in their professional judgment of colleagues. Professors accept their share of faculty responsibilities for the governance of their institution.

1  
2  
3  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
10  
11  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28  
29  
30  
31  
32  
33  
34  
35  
36  
37  
38  
39  
40  
41  
42  
43  
44  
45

**3. ACADEMIC PERSONNEL POLICIES**

**3.1. Academic Responsibilities, Ethics, and Freedom**

A faculty member at Missouri State University assumes responsibility for Teaching, Research, and Service, along with obligations inherent in membership in a learned profession. Essential to fulfilling these responsibilities and obligations are adherence to standards of ethical conduct and respect for academic freedom.

In developing a statement of faculty responsibilities and ethical standards, Missouri State University subscribes to the belief, long held by the learned professions, that self-regulation is preferable to any externally imposed discipline.

In a University faculty it is, therefore, desirable that the most stringent obligations be laid upon individual Professors that, so far as possible, any serious breach of duties be judged by colleagues who are well acquainted with the problems and practices of a specialized field. Only in cases of the most serious violations of professional responsibilities shall the academic profession regulate itself by calling upon a group representative of the whole faculty to deal with faults that could have been avoided either by individual self-control or by departmental discipline as specified in the Professional Practices Review Process (PPRP) (Refer to [Chapter 13](#)).

**3.1.1. Responsibilities And Ethics**

The University recognizes that all faculty have responsibilities in the development of citizen scholars and that those responsibilities must be grounded in ethical standards. The University endorses the following Statement on Professional Ethics from the American Association of University Professors (2009). The AAUP language specifically addresses “professors,” but the standards are applicable to all faculty.

Professors, guided by a deep conviction of the worth and dignity of the advancement of knowledge, recognize the special responsibilities placed upon them. Their primary responsibility to their subject is to seek and to state the truth as they see it. To this end professors devote their energies to developing and improving their scholarly competence. They accept the obligation to exercise critical self-discipline and judgment in using, extending, and transmitting knowledge. They practice intellectual honesty. Although professors may follow subsidiary interests, these interests must never seriously hamper or compromise their freedom of inquiry.

As teachers, professors encourage the free pursuit of learning in their students. They hold before them the best scholarly and ethical standards of their discipline. Professors demonstrate respect for students as individuals and adhere to their proper roles as intellectual guides and counselors. Professors make every reasonable effort to foster honest academic conduct and to ensure that their evaluations of students reflect each student’s true merit. They respect the confidential nature of the relationship between professor and student. They avoid any exploitation, harassment, or discriminatory treatment of students. They acknowledge significant academic or scholarly assistance from them. They protect their academic freedom.

As colleagues, professors have obligations that derive from common membership in the community of scholars. Professors do not discriminate against or harass colleagues. They respect and defend the free inquiry of associates, even when it leads to findings and conclusions that differ from their own. Professors acknowledge academic debt and strive to be objective in their professional judgment of colleagues. Professors accept their share of faculty responsibilities for the governance of their institution.

46 As members of an academic institution, professors seek above all to be effective teachers and scholars.

1 Although professors observe the stated regulations of the institution, provided the regulations do not  
2 contravene academic freedom, they maintain their right to criticize and seek revision. Professors give  
3 due regard to their paramount responsibilities within their institution in determining the amount and  
4 character of work done outside it. When considering the interruption or termination of their service,  
5 professors recognize the effect of their decision upon the program of the institution and give due notice  
6 of their intentions.

8 As members of their community, professors have the rights and obligations of other citizens. Professors  
9 measure the urgency of these obligations in the light of their responsibilities to their subject, to their  
10 students, to their profession, and to their institution. When they speak or act as private persons, they  
11 avoid creating the impression of speaking or acting for their college or university. As citizens engaged  
12 in a profession that depends upon freedom for its health and integrity, professors have a particular  
13 obligation to promote conditions of free inquiry and to further public understanding of academic  
14 freedom.

16 Each faculty member is responsible for personal ethical conduct. There is both individual and collegial assurance that  
17 strong ethical standards are enacted and followed. However, if an individual commits a serious breach of professional  
18 conduct and fails to meet assigned responsibilities, a process is in place for peer faculty review. Refer to [Chapter 13](#)  
19 of this handbook.

21 Intellectual honesty is necessary in the performance of faculty responsibilities and requires the avoidance of  
22 fabricating, falsifying, and plagiarizing research results. Intellectual honesty requires proper recognition of sources,  
23 [including disclosure of use of generative AI](#); discussion of fair use policies is provided in [Section 8.8.1 7-2](#) and is also  
24 discussed in standard style guides (e.g., Chicago, APA, and MLA style guides).

26 Activities of faculty members may also be constrained by codes of ethics specific to their disciplines, including  
27 standards of integrity in the conduct of scientific research. Adherence to discipline-specific professional codes is an  
28 appropriate subject for peer review of performance. In addition, faculty members who engage in funded projects are  
29 obligated to meet standards for integrity specified by their sponsoring agencies.

45 As members of an academic institution, professors seek above all to be effective teachers and scholars.

46 Although professors observe the stated regulations of the institution, provided the regulations do not

1 contravene academic freedom, they maintain their right to criticize and seek revision. Professors give  
2 due regard to their paramount responsibilities within their institution in determining the amount and  
3 character of work done outside it. When considering the interruption or termination of their service,  
4 professors recognize the effect of their decision upon the program of the institution and give due notice  
5 of their intentions.

7 As members of their community, professors have the rights and obligations of other citizens. Professors  
8 measure the urgency of these obligations in the light of their responsibilities to their subject, to their  
9 students, to their profession, and to their institution. When they speak or act as private persons, they  
10 avoid creating the impression of speaking or acting for their college or university. As citizens engaged  
11 in a profession that depends upon freedom for its health and integrity, professors have a particular  
12 obligation to promote conditions of free inquiry and to further public understanding of academic  
13 freedom.

15 Each faculty member is responsible for personal ethical conduct. There is both individual and collegial assurance that  
16 strong ethical standards are enacted and followed. However, if an individual commits a serious breach of professional  
17 conduct and fails to meet assigned responsibilities, a process is in place for peer faculty review. Refer to [Chapter 13](#)  
18 of this handbook.

20 Intellectual honesty is necessary in the performance of faculty responsibilities and requires the avoidance of  
21 fabricating, falsifying, and plagiarizing research results. Intellectual honesty requires proper recognition of sources,  
22 including disclosure of use of generative AI; discussion of fair use policies is provided in [Section 8.8.1](#) and is also  
23 discussed in standard style guides (e.g., Chicago, APA, and MLA style guides).

25 Activities of faculty members may also be constrained by codes of ethics specific to their disciplines, including  
26 standards of integrity in the conduct of scientific research. Adherence to discipline-specific professional codes is an  
27 appropriate subject for peer review of performance. In addition, faculty members who engage in funded projects are  
28 obligated to meet standards for integrity specified by their sponsoring agencies.

29



30  
31  
32  
33  
34  
35  
36  
37  
38  
39  
40  
41  
42  
43  
44  
45  
46  
47  
48  
49  
1  
2  
3  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
10  
11  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22

**3.1.2. Academic Freedom**

The right of faculty members to academic freedom is essential to the functioning of a university. Therefore, that right shall be protected at Missouri State University.

Academic freedom is the particular right of scholars, teachers, and students within the University to pursue knowledge, speak, write, and follow the life of the mind without unreasonable restriction. It is that freedom to be judged as scholar, teacher, or student on the basis of legitimate intellectual criteria, not personal beliefs, political views, religious ,or other individual preferences, except as these may demonstrably affect intellectual and professional achievement.

Each faculty member is entitled to full freedom in research and in publication of research results.

Each faculty member is expected to conduct assigned courses in a manner consistent with the course content and course credit as approved by the faculty. Within these constraints, the faculty member is entitled to freedom in developing and discussing subjects appropriate to the course.

Each faculty member is an ~~an individual~~~~citizen~~, a member of a learned profession, and an officer of an educational institution. When a faculty member speaks or writes as an ~~an individual~~~~citizen~~, the faculty member should be free from institutional censorship or discipline. As a person of learning and as an educational officer, the faculty member should remember, however, that the public may judge one's profession and the institution by one's utterances. Hence the faculty member should strive to be accurate, to show respect for the opinions of others, and to indicate that the faculty member is not speaking for the institution.

Each faculty member has the right to criticize and seek alteration of institutional regulations and policies through legal and existing shared governance means.

The protection of academic freedom extends to all faculty members with full-time or part-time appointments in the University regardless of their rank, tenure status, or position title.

At Missouri State University, the roles of faculty cannot be separated from the responsibilities that are unique to the mission of the ~~program or department~~~~academic unit~~. However, in no way will the negotiation of faculty roles within the ~~program or department~~ ~~academic unit~~ be construed to justify any intrusion into any individual faculty member's academic freedom, especially as that freedom pertains to research and expression in teaching.

Recognizing that academic freedom is not unlimited, and cognizant of the dangers to academic freedom that may arise from its misunderstanding and abuse, the University subscribes to the following principles defined in the Statement of Freedom and Responsibility approved on October 31, 1970, by the Council of the American Association of University Professors with minor editorial revision (addition of sexual orientation):

Membership in the academic community imposes on students, faculty members, administrators, and trustees an obligation to respect the dignity of others, to acknowledge their right to express differing

30  
31  
32  
33  
34  
35  
36  
37  
38  
39  
40  
41  
42  
43  
44  
45  
46  
47  
48  
49  
1  
2  
3  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
10  
11  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22

**3.1.2. Academic Freedom**

The right of faculty members to academic freedom is essential to the functioning of a university. Therefore, that right shall be protected at Missouri State University.

Academic freedom is the particular right of scholars, teachers, and students within the University to pursue knowledge, speak, write, and follow the life of the mind without unreasonable restriction. It is that freedom to be judged as scholar, teacher, or student on the basis of legitimate intellectual criteria, not personal beliefs, political views, religious ,or other individual preferences, except as these may demonstrably affect intellectual and professional achievement.

Each faculty member is entitled to full freedom in research and in publication of research results.

Each faculty member is expected to conduct assigned courses in a manner consistent with the course content and course credit as approved by the faculty. Within these constraints, the faculty member is entitled to freedom in developing and discussing subjects appropriate to the course.

Each faculty member is an individual, a member of a learned profession, and an officer of an educational institution. When a faculty member speaks or writes as an individual, the faculty member should be free from institutional censorship or discipline. As a person of learning and as an educational officer, the faculty member should remember, however, that the public may judge one's profession and the institution by one's utterances. Hence the faculty member should strive to be accurate, to show respect for the opinions of others, and to indicate that the faculty member is not speaking for the institution.

Each faculty member has the right to criticize and seek alteration of institutional regulations and policies through legal and existing shared governance means.

The protection of academic freedom extends to all faculty members with full-time or part-time appointments in the University regardless of their rank, tenure status, or position title.

At Missouri State University, the roles of faculty cannot be separated from the responsibilities that are unique to the mission of the academic unit. However, in no way will the negotiation of faculty roles within the academic unit be construed to justify any intrusion into any individual faculty member's academic freedom, especially as that freedom pertains to research and expression in teaching.

Recognizing that academic freedom is not unlimited, and cognizant of the dangers to academic freedom that may arise from its misunderstanding and abuse, the University subscribes to the following principles defined in the Statement of Freedom and Responsibility approved on October 31, 1970, by the Council of the American Association of University Professors with minor editorial revision (addition of sexual orientation):

Membership in the academic community imposes on students, faculty members, administrators, and trustees an obligation to respect the dignity of others, to acknowledge their right to express differing opinions, and to foster and defend intellectual honesty, freedom of inquiry and instruction, and free expression on and off the campus. The expression of dissent and the attempt to produce change

(et c., AAUP boilerplate for a page)

## 3.2. Appointment, Rank, and Tenure

### 3.2.1. Introduction

The Board of Governors has the sole authority and responsibility to appoint, assign rank, promote, and grant tenure to the members of the University faculty. The President of the University, after consultation with appropriate members of the academic administration and faculty, shall make recommendations to the Board of Governors concerning these personnel decisions. [8.74.6.1](#)

### 3.2.2. Initial Appointment Letters

It is the policy of Missouri State University that all faculty of the University shall be clearly informed as to the personnel policies of the institution. These personnel policies are contained in this Faculty Handbook, and additional supplemental information related to criteria and procedures used to evaluate faculty for performance, annual review of appropriate progress toward reappointment, promotion, and tenure will be provided by the Colleges, ~~departments and schools~~academic unit, and the Provost.

The precise terms of every appointment shall be stated in the initial appointment letter. The conditions of appointment may vary in individual situations, but they must conform to policies stated in this Handbook. The conditions of employment for each faculty member including rank, salary, length of appointment, start date, length of probationary period (including the last semester during which a tenure application can be made), credit for prior academic service or equivalent experience, terminal degree and tenure status, and position responsibilities and performance expectations shall be clearly stated in writing. New faculty will also be provided a copy of the ~~departmental~~tenure, promotion, and performance review guidelines in effect on the date of the hire ~~for their respective program, department, or school~~academic unit. ~~The criteria employed for tenure decisions will be those in the Faculty Handbook and in departmental academic unit guidelines at the time the initial appointment letter is given (see Section 4.8.7, Faculty and Department Head AUL Procedural Agreement).~~

### 3.2.3. General Criteria Statement

The criteria for initial appointment consist of training evidenced by academic degrees, experience, and achievement. For tenure and promotion, faculty members must meet the requirements for Teaching, Research, and Service established by their ~~academic unit~~Department, College, and the University. Advancement to each higher rank carries with it the expectation of a greater contribution to the University's mission in Teaching, Research, and Service. Advancement also carries with it the expectation that the individual will accept leadership roles upon which the concept of shared governance depends. ~~Section 3.4 overviews the increasing expectations with rank for tenure-track and clinical-track faculty, and Chapter 4 describes faculty evaluation.~~

The University policies specified in this Faculty Handbook should be used in conjunction with ~~departmental~~academic unit and college policies, which may be more specific than those of the University but which must be consistent with the University policies. ~~Departmental~~Academic unit procedures and standards for evaluating faculty in the areas of Teaching, Research, and Service are to be reviewed and approved by the College Dean and the Provost every three years. Ultimately, faculty must receive the approbation of their colleagues and appropriate administrative officers based on criteria provided in University policies and ~~school/departmental~~academic unit governance documents. The University must also fulfill its obligations.

Professionalism, ~~and~~ collegiality, ~~as described in Section 1.1.3.4,~~ are essential to Teaching, Research, and Service activities, and are evidenced in at least two important ways: maintaining high standards of professional ethics and performing as a responsible member of the University community.

## 3.2. Appointment, Rank, and Tenure

### 3.2.1. Introduction

The Board of Governors has the sole authority and responsibility to appoint, assign rank, promote, and grant tenure to the members of the University faculty. The President of the University, after consultation with appropriate members of the academic administration and faculty, shall make recommendations to the Board of Governors concerning these personnel decisions. [4.6.1](#)

### 3.2.2. Initial Appointment Letters

It is the policy of Missouri State University that all faculty of the University shall be clearly informed as to the personnel policies of the institution. These personnel policies are contained in this Faculty Handbook, and additional supplemental information related to criteria and procedures used to evaluate faculty for performance, annual review of appropriate progress toward reappointment, promotion, and tenure will be provided by the Colleges, academic unit, and the Provost.

The precise terms of every appointment shall be stated in the initial appointment letter. The conditions of appointment may vary in individual situations, but they must conform to policies stated in this Handbook. The conditions of employment for each faculty member including rank, salary, length of appointment, start date, length of probationary period (including the last semester during which a tenure application can be made), credit for prior academic service or equivalent experience, terminal degree and tenure status, and position responsibilities and performance expectations shall be clearly stated in writing. New faculty will also be provided a copy of the tenure, promotion, and performance review guidelines in effect on the date of the hire for their respective academic unit.

### 3.2.3. General Criteria Statement

The criteria for initial appointment consist of training evidenced by academic degrees, experience, and achievement. For tenure and promotion, faculty members must meet the requirements for Teaching, Research, and Service established by their academic unit, and the University. Advancement to each higher rank carries with it the expectation of a greater contribution to the University's mission in Teaching, Research, and Service. Advancement also carries with it the expectation that the individual will accept leadership roles upon which the concept of shared governance depends.

The University policies specified in this Faculty Handbook should be used in conjunction with academic unit and college policies, which may be more specific than those of the University but which must be consistent with the University policies. Academic unit procedures and standards for evaluating faculty in the areas of Teaching, Research, and Service are to be reviewed and approved by the College Dean and the Provost every three years. Ultimately, faculty must receive the approbation of their colleagues and appropriate administrative officers based on criteria provided in University policies and academic unit governance documents. The University must also fulfill its obligations.

Professionalism and collegiality, as described in Section 1.1.3.4, are essential to Teaching, Research, and Service activities, and are evidenced in at least two important ways: maintaining high standards of professional ethics and performing as a responsible member of the University community.



### 3.2.3.1. Teaching

Teaching is the most important responsibility of an institution of higher education. Effective teaching requires continual application and effort. Teachers must keep abreast of new developments in their fields and related fields or disciplines. Teachers should be able to engage students in the disciplines. Teaching also takes the form of student advisement and mentoring, which are critical activities that contribute to the development of educated persons.

For tenure and promotion to a higher professional rank, effective teaching must be documented. Each department academic unit is responsible for preparing procedures for evaluating teaching effectiveness and for communicating these to faculty members in the department academic unit. Departmental pThe procedure should be appropriate to the type and nature of the teaching assignment. Details for such evaluation are provided in Chapter 4.2.1.

### 3.2.3.2. Research

Research, defined in Chapter 4 as including a broad range of scholarly work, is a key expectation of tenure-track and research faculty at all levels. Evaluation of Research is highly dependent on the faculty member's discipline and so a uniform standard for its evaluation cannot be stated here. Departments Academic units (with approval of their Deans and the Provost) are responsible for providing specific guidelines for their faculty in their governance documents. Details for evaluations of Research are provided in Chapter 4.2.2.

### 3.2.3.3. Service

Service is of several kinds. It includes service to the University and its students through committee work, assistance to student organizations, and other activities that represent a critical contribution to the operation and development of the institution through shared governance. Service also includes consultations and applications of disciplinary knowledge and expertise to address the needs of professional organizations and public constituencies.

Service expectations may vary by department academic unit. Departments Academic units (with approval of their Deans and the Provost) are responsible for providing specific guidelines for their faculty in their governance documents. More information about evaluation of Service is provided in Chapter 4.2.3.

## 3.3. Requirements for Appointment, Tenure, and Promotion of Tenure-Track Faculty

The provisions for promotion and tenure listed below for each rank represent the conditions the tenure-track faculty member must meet in order to be minimally eligible for consideration for a change in status. Procedures for the granting of tenure or promotion are prescribed in Section 4. Provisions for tenure, as specified for each academic rank, may be modified by and are superseded by the provisions of Section 3.9. A faculty member who held tenure at Missouri State University when promoted from a lower rank shall continue to hold tenure at the higher rank.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Instructor rank shall be tenure-track for Greenwood Laboratory School faculty only. Greenwood Laboratory School faculty are eligible for tenure in the Laboratory School. Tenure in the Laboratory School is not transferable to the University. Faculty at the Laboratory School are subject to the requirements for appointment, tenure, and promotion as established by the Greenwood faculty and approved by the Dean, Provost, President, and the Board of Governors.

University faculty members tenured in the rank of Instructor prior to January 1, 2007, shall retain their tenure status in the University and shall be eligible for promotion according to department guidelines. Likewise, a probationary faculty member in the rank of Instructor prior to January 1, 2007, shall be eligible to apply for tenure as stated in the faculty member's appointment letter and shall retain the right to apply for promotion to Assistant Professor according to academic unit guidelines.

### 3.2.3.1. Teaching

Teaching is the most important responsibility of an institution of higher education. Effective teaching requires continual application and effort. Teachers must keep abreast of new developments in their fields and related fields or disciplines. Teachers should be able to engage students in the disciplines. Teaching also takes the form of student advisement and mentoring, which are critical activities that contribute to the development of educated persons.

For tenure and promotion to a higher professional rank, effective teaching must be documented. Each academic unit is responsible for preparing procedures for evaluating teaching effectiveness and for communicating these to faculty members in the academic unit. The procedure should be appropriate to the type and nature of the teaching assignment. Details for such evaluation are provided in Chapter 4.2.1.

### 3.2.3.2. Research

Research, defined in Chapter 4 as including a broad range of scholarly work, is a key expectation of tenure-track and research faculty at all levels. Evaluation of Research is highly dependent on the faculty member's discipline and so a uniform standard for its evaluation cannot be stated here. Academic units (with approval of their Deans and the Provost) are responsible for providing specific guidelines for their faculty in their governance documents. Details for evaluations of Research are provided in Chapter 4.2.2.

### 3.2.3.3. Service

Service is of several kinds. It includes service to the University and its students through committee work, assistance to student organizations, and other activities that represent a critical contribution to the operation and development of the institution through shared governance. Service also includes consultations and applications of disciplinary knowledge and expertise to address the needs of professional organizations and public constituencies.

Service expectations may vary by academic unit. Academic units (with approval of their Deans and the Provost) are responsible for providing specific guidelines for their faculty in their governance documents. More information about evaluation of Service is provided in Chapter 4.2.3.

## 3.3. Requirements for Appointment, Tenure, and Promotion of Tenure-Track Faculty

The provisions for promotion and tenure listed below for each rank represent the conditions the tenure-track faculty member must meet in order to be minimally eligible for consideration for a change in status. Procedures for the granting of tenure or promotion are prescribed in Section 4. Provisions for tenure, as specified for each academic rank, may be modified by and are superseded by the provisions of Section 3.9. A faculty member who held tenure at Missouri State University when promoted from a lower rank shall continue to hold tenure at the higher rank.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Instructor rank shall be tenure-track for Greenwood Laboratory School faculty only. Greenwood Laboratory School faculty are eligible for tenure in the Laboratory School. Tenure in the Laboratory School is not transferable to the University. Faculty at the Laboratory School are subject to the requirements for appointment, tenure, and promotion as established by the Greenwood faculty and approved by the Dean, Provost, President, and the Board of Governors.

University faculty members tenured in the rank of Instructor prior to January 1, 2007, shall retain their tenure status in the University and shall be eligible for promotion according to department guidelines. Likewise, a probationary faculty member in the rank of Instructor prior to January 1, 2007, shall be eligible to apply for tenure as stated in the faculty member's appointment letter and shall retain the right to apply for promotion to Assistant Professor according to academic unit guidelines.

### 3.3.1. Assistant Professor

#### Definition:

An academic rank of one who has demonstrated achievement or potential in the areas of Teaching, Research, and Service appropriate to the discipline.

#### Basis of Appointment:

A terminal degree or equivalent as determined by appropriate ~~department~~ faculty with the approval of the Provost. In exceptional cases, individuals with doctoral course work complete and dissertation in progress (ABD) may be appointed with the stipulation in the appointment letter that the degree must be completed within the first year of appointment. Under extraordinary circumstances, an extension can be granted with the approval of the Provost.

#### Criteria for Tenure and Promotion:

In addition to meeting years-of-service requirements, those seeking tenure and/or promotion must have demonstrated sustained effectiveness in Teaching, Research, and Service as defined in the Assistant Professor rank. (Refer to Sections 3 and 4 for criteria for promotion.) ~~It is assumed that a~~ faculty member hired as an assistant professor will concurrently seek tenure and promotion.

#### Tenure:

Assistant Professors normally apply for tenure in their sixth year of probationary status at Missouri State. Faculty hired with credit toward tenure will normally apply for tenure in the equivalent of their ~~sixth~~-6th year, e.g., faculty granted two years of credit toward tenure would normally apply during their fourth year of academic service at Missouri State.

Individuals with exceptional records of accomplishments in teaching, research, and service may apply for tenure in their fourth or fifth year ~~S~~ (adjusted as described above for those faculty hired with credit granted toward tenure). Faculty contemplating applying for early tenure are strongly encouraged to consult with their personnel committee, academic unit leader, and Dean. See Section 4.8.5.

The earliest any Assistant Professor may apply for tenure is during the third year of probationary status at Missouri State, regardless of the number of years credited toward tenure at the time of hiring.

The tenure decision shall occur at the latest during the sixth year of probationary status excepting those circumstances where the Provost has granted a temporary stopping of the tenure clock.

#### Eligibility for Promotion:

Assistant Professors are minimally eligible to apply for promotion to the Associate rank in the same year they become eligible to apply for tenure.

#### Policy in Effect for Promotion:

Assistant ~~P~~rofessors concurrently applying for tenure and promotion ~~concurrently and~~ have the option of using the promotion criteria in effect at the time of their hiring, or a more recent version. Tenured Assistant Professors applying for promotion have the option of using any promotion policy in effect since the time of their hiring provided that the policy was in effect within six years of the application for promotion. For instance, a policy in effect in Fall 2017 could be used for a promotion application in Fall 2022.

### 3.3.1. Assistant Professor

#### Definition:

An academic rank of one who has demonstrated achievement or potential in the areas of Teaching, Research, and Service appropriate to the discipline.

#### Basis of Appointment:

A terminal degree or equivalent as determined by appropriate faculty with the approval of the Provost. In exceptional cases, individuals with doctoral course work complete and dissertation in progress (ABD) may be appointed with the stipulation in the appointment letter that the degree must be completed within the first year of appointment. Under extraordinary circumstances, an extension can be granted with the approval of the Provost.

#### Criteria for Tenure and Promotion:

In addition to meeting years-of-service requirements, those seeking tenure and/or promotion must have demonstrated sustained effectiveness in Teaching, Research, and Service as defined in the Assistant Professor rank. (Refer to Sections 3 and 4 for criteria for promotion.) A faculty member hired as an assistant professor will concurrently seek tenure and promotion.

#### Tenure:

Assistant Professors normally apply for tenure in their sixth year of probationary status at Missouri State. Faculty hired with credit toward tenure will normally apply for tenure in the equivalent of their sixth year, e.g., faculty granted two years of credit toward tenure would normally apply during their fourth year of academic service at Missouri State.

Individuals with exceptional records of accomplishments in teaching, research, and service may apply for tenure in their fourth or fifth year (adjusted as described above for those faculty hired with credit granted toward tenure). Faculty contemplating applying for early tenure are strongly encouraged to consult with their personnel committee, academic unit leader, and Dean. See Section 4.8.5.

The earliest any Assistant Professor may apply for tenure is during the third year of probationary status at Missouri State, regardless of the number of years credited toward tenure at the time of hiring.

The tenure decision shall occur at the latest during the sixth year of probationary status excepting those circumstances where the Provost has granted a temporary stopping of the tenure clock.

#### Eligibility for Promotion:

Assistant Professors are minimally eligible to apply for promotion to the Associate rank in the same year they become eligible to apply for tenure.

#### Policy in Effect for Promotion:

Assistant Professors concurrently apply for tenure and promotion and have the option of using the promotion criteria in effect at the time of their hiring, or a more recent version. Tenured Assistant Professors applying for promotion have the option of using any promotion policy in effect since the time of their hiring provided that the policy was in effect within six years of the application for promotion. For instance, a policy in effect in Fall 2017 could be used for a promotion application in Fall 2022.



40 **3.3.2. Associate Professor**

41 Definition:

1 An academic rank of one who has demonstrated a sustained record of achievement and effectiveness in Teaching,  
2 Research, and Service appropriate to the discipline.

3 Basis of Appointment:

4 Any of the following: (1) promotion from the rank of Assistant Professor or (2) terminal degree and a minimum of  
5 four years of experience equivalent to academic service to Missouri State University in the rank of Assistant Professor.

6 Tenure:

7 ~~Individuals who are promoted to the Associate Professor rank retain the same tenure eligibility which they had as~~  
8 ~~Assistant Professors:~~

9 Individuals whose initial appointment is to the Associate Professor rank must apply for tenure by their fourth year of  
10 probationary status, excepting those circumstances in which the Provost has granted a temporary stopping of the tenure  
11 clock. Individuals with exceptional records of accomplishment may be granted tenure earlier than their fourth year.  
12 See Section 4.8.5. Refer to Sections 3 and 4 for criteria for tenure.

13 Eligibility for Promotion:

14 Associate Professors are eligible to apply for promotion during their fifth year of academic service to Missouri State  
15 University in the rank of Associate Professor. Individuals with exceptional records of accomplishments may be  
16 granted early promotion. See Section 4.8.5.

17 Policy in Effect for Promotion:

18 Associate professors applying for promotion to Professor have the option of using either the most current version of  
19 promotion criteria or an earlier version of criteria that has been in effect since their promotion to Associate which was  
20 in effect within seven years of the application. For instance, a policy in effect in Fall 2017 could be used for a  
21 promotion application in Fall 2022. Refer to Sections 3.4.3, 4.2-4.4, and 4.7.-4.8 for criteria for promotion.  
22

**3.3.2. Associate Professor**

Definition:

An academic rank of one who has demonstrated a sustained record of achievement and effectiveness in Teaching,  
Research, and Service appropriate to the discipline.

Basis of Appointment:

Any of the following: (1) promotion from the rank of Assistant Professor or (2) terminal degree and a minimum of  
four years of experience equivalent to academic service to Missouri State University in the rank of Assistant  
Professor.

Tenure:

.....  
Individuals whose initial appointment is to the Associate Professor rank must apply for tenure by their fourth year of  
probationary status, excepting those circumstances in which the Provost has granted a temporary stopping of the  
tenure clock. Individuals with exceptional records of accomplishment may be granted tenure earlier than their fourth  
year. See Section 4.8.5. Refer to Sections 3 and 4 for criteria for tenure.

Eligibility for Promotion:

Associate Professors are eligible to apply for promotion during their fifth year of academic service to Missouri State  
University in the rank of Associate Professor. Individuals with exceptional records of accomplishments may be  
granted early promotion. See Section 4.8.5.

Policy in Effect for Promotion:

Associate professors applying for promotion to Professor have the option of using either the most current version of  
promotion criteria or an earlier version of criteria that has been in effect since their promotion to Associate which  
was in effect within seven years of the application. For instance, a policy in effect in Fall 2017 could be used for a  
promotion application in Fall 2022. Refer to Sections 4.2-4.4, and 4.7.-4.8 for criteria for promotion.

22

### 23 3.3.3. Professor

24 Definition:

25 Professors are recognized leaders who have a cumulative record of Teaching, Research, and Service appropriate to  
26 the discipline.

27 Basis of Appointment:

28 (1) Promotion from the Associate Professor rank or (2) terminal degree and a minimum of five years of experience  
29 equivalent to academic service to Missouri State University in the rank of Associate Professor.

30 Tenure:

31 Professors normally will be hired with tenure. A Professor who is hired without tenure is minimally eligible to hold  
32 tenure following one year of academic service to Missouri State University. The tenure decision will occur at the  
33 latest during the second year of probationary status.

34 ~~Policy in Effect for Promotion:~~ Eligibility for Promotion:

35

36 Professors with extraordinary accomplishments may apply for promotion to Distinguished Professor. To be eligible  
37 for Distinguished Professor rank an individual must have held Professor rank for a minimum of five years, with at  
38 least three years in the rank at Missouri State University; have a record of extraordinary performance in Research with  
39 a national or international reputation; and have a sustained record of excellence in both Teaching and Service.  
40 Professors applying for promotion to Distinguished Professor have the option of using either the most current version  
41 of promotion criteria or an earlier version of criteria that has been in effect since their promotion to Professor which

1 was in effect within seven years of the application. For instance, a policy in effect in Fall 2017 could be used for a  
2 promotion application in Fall 2024.

3

### 4 3.3.4. Distinguished Professor

5 Definition:

6 Distinguished Professor is a rank beyond Professor which recognizes extraordinary ~~accomplishment~~ performance in  
7 Research ~~with a national or international reputation as well as a sustained record of excellence in both Teaching and~~  
8 Service. The year of appointment to the rank of Distinguished Professor will include an addition to base salary greater  
9 than the amount given for promotion to Professor.

### 3.3.3. Professor

Definition:

Professors are recognized leaders who have a cumulative record of Teaching, Research, and Service appropriate to the discipline.

Basis of Appointment:

(1) Promotion from the Associate Professor rank or (2) terminal degree and a minimum of five years of experience equivalent to academic service to Missouri State University in the rank of Associate Professor.

Tenure:

Professors normally will be hired with tenure. A Professor who is hired without tenure is minimally eligible to hold tenure following one year of academic service to Missouri State University. The tenure decision will occur at the latest during the second year of probationary status.

Eligibility for Promotion:

Professors with extraordinary accomplishments may apply for promotion to Distinguished Professor. To be eligible for Distinguished Professor rank an individual must have held Professor rank for a minimum of five years, with at least three years in the rank at Missouri State University; have a record of extraordinary performance in Research with a national or international reputation; and have a sustained record of excellence in both Teaching and Service. Professors applying for promotion to Distinguished Professor have the option of using either the most current version of promotion criteria or an earlier version of criteria that has been in effect since their promotion to Professor which was in effect within seven years of the application. For instance, a policy in effect in Fall 2017 could be used for a promotion application in Fall 2024.

### 3.3.4. Distinguished Professor

Definition:

Distinguished Professor is a rank beyond Professor which recognizes extraordinary performance in Research with a national or international reputation as well as a sustained record of excellence in both Teaching and Service. The year of appointment to the rank of Distinguished Professor will include an addition to base salary greater than the amount given for promotion to Professor.



### 3.5. Non-Tenure-Track Academic Positions

Persons who hold non-tenure-track positions are given term appointments that automatically terminate upon the expiration of the specified term. Non-tenure-track appointments may be given annual or multi-year contracts as determined by the program/-department/school with approval of the Dean and the Provost. No notice of non-reappointment is given, and reemployment of the employee after the conclusion of the appointment term is solely within the discretion of the University. Non-tenure-track faculty members are not eligible for tenure, educational leave, or sabbatical leave. ~~With the exception of visiting Professors, time spent in a non-tenure-track position does not count towards tenure-eligibility if the individual later applies for and is appointed to a tenure-track faculty position.~~ Non-tenure-track faculty must be qualified by academic or practical experiences appropriate for the responsibilities assigned. A Master's degree or higher is required except in special circumstances approved by the Provost. All non-tenure-track academic positions have the same right to academic freedom accorded tenure-track faculty. Time spent in a full-time non-tenure-track position may count towards tenure eligibility if the individual later applies for and is appointed to a tenure-track faculty position, if approved by the Provost.

#### 3.5.11. Clinical Faculty

~~Clinical Faculty are members of the faculty whose primary responsibilities are clinical education and service. Clinical Faculty are not eligible for tenure but have the same right to academic freedom accorded tenure-track faculty. Clinical Faculty may participate in research and other scholarly or creative activities. Clinical Faculty must be qualified as defined by professional/discipline standards, have practical experience appropriate for the responsibilities assigned and must maintain appropriate professional credentials. Appointment is to the rank of Clinical Instructor, Clinical Assistant Professor, Clinical Associate Professor, or Clinical Professor. Academic units desiring to appoint Clinical Faculty shall develop appropriate appointment, promotion and performance review criteria for each rank, which must be approved by the Dean of the College and the Provost. Clinical Faculty may be reappointed to one or more additional terms, contingent upon satisfactory performance reviews, educational needs of the academic unit, and continued funding. Clinical Faculty members may be appointed to 9-month or 12-month appointments. Clinical Faculty on 9-month contracts will receive salary compensation and benefits for 12 months. Clinical Faculty applying for promotion to Clinical Assistant Professor, Clinical Associate Professor, or Clinical Professor have the option of using either the most current version of promotion criteria or a newer version of criteria that has been in effect since their hiring or previous promotion. For instance, a policy in effect in Fall 2017 could be used for a promotion application in Fall 2024.~~

### 3.5. Non-Tenure-Track Academic Positions

Persons who hold non-tenure-track positions are given term appointments that automatically terminate upon the expiration of the specified term. Non-tenure-track appointments may be given annual or multi-year contracts as determined by the program/department/school with approval of the Dean and the Provost. No notice of non-reappointment is given, and reemployment of the employee after the conclusion of the appointment term is solely within the discretion of the University. Non-tenure-track faculty members are not eligible for tenure, educational leave, or sabbatical leave. Non-tenure-track faculty must be qualified by academic or practical experiences appropriate for the responsibilities assigned. A Master's degree or higher is required except in special circumstances approved by the Provost. All non-tenure-track academic positions have the same right to academic freedom accorded tenure-track faculty. Time spent in a full-time non-tenure-track position may count towards tenure eligibility if the individual later applies for and is appointed to a tenure-track faculty position, if approved by the Provost.

#### 3.5.11. Clinical Faculty

Clinical Faculty are members of the faculty whose primary responsibilities are clinical education and service. Clinical Faculty are not eligible for tenure but have the same right to academic freedom accorded tenure-track faculty. Clinical Faculty may participate in research and other scholarly or creative activities. Clinical Faculty must be qualified as defined by professional/discipline standards, have practical experience appropriate for the responsibilities assigned and must maintain appropriate professional credentials. Appointment is to the rank of Clinical Instructor, Clinical Assistant Professor, Clinical Associate Professor, or Clinical Professor. Academic units desiring to appoint Clinical Faculty shall develop appropriate appointment, promotion and performance review criteria for each rank, which must be approved by the Dean of the College and the Provost. Clinical Faculty may be reappointed to one or more additional terms, contingent upon satisfactory performance reviews, educational needs of the academic unit, and continued funding. Clinical Faculty members may be appointed to 9-month or 12-month appointments. Clinical Faculty on 9-month contracts will receive salary compensation and benefits for 12 months. Clinical Faculty applying for promotion to Clinical Assistant Professor, Clinical Associate Professor, or Clinical Professor have the option of using either the most current version of promotion criteria or a newer version of criteria that has been in effect since their hiring or previous promotion. For instance, a policy in effect in Fall 2017 could be used for a promotion application in Fall 2024.

##### 3.5.1.1 Clinical Instructor

##### 3.5.1.2 Clinical Assistant Professor

##### 3.5.1.3. Clinical Associate Professor

##### 3.5.1.4 Clinical Professor

#### 3.5.11. Clinical Faculty

Clinical Faculty are members of the faculty whose primary responsibilities are clinical education and service. Clinical Faculty are not eligible for tenure but have the same right to academic freedom accorded tenure-track faculty. Clinical Faculty may participate in research and other scholarly or creative activities. Clinical Faculty must be qualified as defined by professional/discipline standards, have practical experience appropriate for the responsibilities assigned and must maintain appropriate professional credentials. Appointment is to the rank of Clinical Instructor, Clinical Assistant Professor, Clinical Associate Professor, or Clinical Professor. Departments desiring to appoint Clinical Faculty shall develop appropriate appointment, promotion and performance review criteria for each rank, which must be approved by the Dean of the College and the Provost. Clinical Faculty may be reappointed to one or more additional terms, contingent upon satisfactory performance reviews, educational needs of the department, and continued funding. Clinical Faculty are not eligible for tenure but have the same right to academic freedom accorded tenure track faculty.

If a Clinical Faculty member is appointed to a tenure-track faculty position, the time spent as a Clinical Faculty member at Missouri State University will not count toward the probationary period for tenure and promotion. Clinical Faculty members may be appointed to 9-month or 12-month appointments. Clinical Faculty on 9-month contracts will receive salary compensation and benefits for 12 months. Clinical Faculty applying for promotion to Clinical Assistant Professor, Clinical Associate Professor, or Clinical Professor have the option of using either the most current version of promotion criteria of an earlier version of criteria that has been in effect since their hiring or previous promotion which was in effect within seven years of the application. For instance, a policy in effect in Fall 2017 could be used for a promotion application in Fall 2024.

##### 3.5.4.1.1 Clinical Instructor

##### 3.5.4.1.2 Clinical Assistant Professor

##### 3.5.4.1.3. Clinical Associate Professor

##### 3.5.4.4.1.4 Clinical Professor



#### 3.5.1. Instructor

An Instructor is normally appointed to teach full-time ~~and~~ provide appropriate service, and may participate in research. Contingent upon satisfactory performance reviews, educational needs and continued funding, the Instructor appointment is renewable without constraint of term limits. Instructors shall have earned a terminal ~~degree~~ or possess the degree required for teaching in specific disciplines, have potential or demonstrated teaching ability, and a willingness to serve the academic unit, College, and University. ~~If an Instructor applies for and is appointed to a tenure-track position, the time spent as Instructor at Missouri State University will not count toward the probationary period for tenure and promotion.~~ Instructors on 9-month appointments will receive salary compensation and benefits for 12 months.

#### 3.5.2. Senior Instructor

An Instructor who has demonstrated excellence in Teaching and Service at Missouri State University for at least five years (not necessarily consecutive) may be appointed as a Senior Instructor. Senior Instructors are expected to provide leadership in teaching, contribute to course and curriculum development, and provide appropriate university service. Senior Instructors may participate in Research. A Senior Instructor shall be appointed to a specific term not to exceed three years and may be reappointed to one or more additional terms, contingent upon satisfactory performance reviews, educational needs, and continued funding; the Senior Instructor appointment is renewable without constraint of term limits. A Senior Instructor who is reappointed will be reappointed at that rank. ~~If a Senior Instructor applies for and is appointed to a tenure-track faculty position, the time spent as Senior Instructor at Missouri State University will not count toward the probationary period for tenure and promotion.~~ Senior Instructors on 9-month appointments will receive salary compensation and benefits for 12-months.

#### Policy in Effect for Promotion:

Instructors applying for promotion to Senior Instructor have the option of using either the most current version of promotion criteria or an earlier version of criteria that has been in effect since their hiring which was in effect within seven years of the application. For instance, a policy in effect in Fall 2017 could be used for a promotion application in Fall 2024.

#### 3.5.3. Visiting Faculty Appointments

A Visiting Professor, Visiting Associate Professor, Visiting Assistant Professor or Visiting Instructor is an individual who possesses all of the qualifications to be appointed at that rank. A Visiting Faculty member may be appointed to a specific term no longer than three years.

~~If a Visiting Professor, Visiting Associate Professor, or Visiting Assistant Professor applies for and is appointed to a tenure-track faculty position, time spent as a Visiting Faculty member at Missouri State University may be counted toward the time required for tenure and promotion.~~

#### 3.5.4. Artist-In-Residence

The position of Artist-in-Residence is offered to outstanding professional artists who render a specified service to the University. This service can include lectures, performances, demonstrations, master classes, and consultations. Academic degrees are not essential to this position. An Artist-in-Residence is chosen on the basis of outstanding professional attainments, creative accomplishments, and recognition in a specified field. An Artist-in-Residence may be appointed for a specified term not to exceed five years and may be reappointed to one or more additional terms, contingent upon satisfactory performance reviews, educational needs of the ~~department~~academic unit, and continued

funding. ~~If an Artist-in-Residence applies for and is appointed to a tenure-track faculty position, time spent as an Artist-in-Residence at Missouri State University will not be counted toward the time required for tenure and promotion.~~

#### 3.5.1. Instructor

An Instructor is normally appointed to teach full-time and provide appropriate service, and may participate in research. Contingent upon satisfactory performance reviews, educational needs and continued funding, the Instructor appointment is renewable without constraint of term limits. Instructors shall have earned a terminal degree or possess the degree required for teaching in specific disciplines, have potential or demonstrated teaching ability, and a willingness to serve the academic unit, College, and University. Instructors on 9-month appointments will receive salary compensation and benefits for 12 months.

#### 3.5.2. Senior Instructor

An Instructor who has demonstrated excellence in Teaching and Service at Missouri State University for at least five years (not necessarily consecutive) may be appointed as a Senior Instructor. Senior Instructors are expected to provide leadership in teaching, contribute to course and curriculum development, and provide appropriate university service. Senior Instructors may participate in Research. A Senior Instructor shall be appointed to a specific term not to exceed three years and may be reappointed to one or more additional terms, contingent upon satisfactory performance reviews, educational needs, and continued funding; the Senior Instructor appointment is renewable without constraint of term limits. A Senior Instructor who is reappointed will be reappointed at that rank. Senior Instructors on 9-month appointments will receive salary compensation and benefits for 12-months.

#### Policy in Effect for Promotion:

Instructors applying for promotion to Senior Instructor have the option of using either the most current version of promotion criteria or an earlier version of criteria that has been in effect since their hiring which was in effect within seven years of the application. For instance, a policy in effect in Fall 2017 could be used for a promotion application in Fall 2024.

#### 3.5.3. Visiting Faculty Appointments

A Visiting Professor, Visiting Associate Professor, Visiting Assistant Professor or Visiting Instructor is an individual who possesses all of the qualifications to be appointed at that rank. A Visiting Faculty member may be appointed to a specific term no longer than three years.

#### 3.5.4. Artist-In-Residence

The position of Artist-in-Residence is offered to outstanding professional artists who render a specified service to the University. This service can include lectures, performances, demonstrations, master classes, and consultations. Academic degrees are not essential to this position. An Artist-in-Residence is chosen on the basis of outstanding professional attainments, creative accomplishments, and recognition in a specified field. An Artist-in-Residence may be appointed for a specified term not to exceed five years and may be reappointed to one or more additional terms, contingent upon satisfactory performance reviews, educational needs of the academic unit, and continued funding.



#### 3.5.5. Practitioner-In-Residence

The position of Practitioner-in-Residence is offered to outstanding practitioners who render a specified service to the University. A Practitioner-in-Residence is chosen on the basis of outstanding professional attainments and recognition in a specified field. A Practitioner-in-Residence may be appointed for a specified term not to exceed five years and may be reappointed to one or more additional terms, contingent upon satisfactory performance reviews, educational needs of the ~~departmentacademic unit~~, and continued funding. ~~If a Practitioner-in-Residence applies for and is appointed to a tenure-track faculty position, time spent as a Practitioner-in-Residence at Missouri State University will not be counted toward the time required for tenure and promotion.~~

#### 3.5.6. Executive-In-Residence

The position of Executive-in-Residence is offered to outstanding business executives who render a specified service to the University. An Executive-in-Residence is chosen on the basis of outstanding professional attainments and recognition in a field. An Executive-in-Residence may be appointed for a specified term not to exceed five years and may be reappointed to one or more additional terms, contingent upon satisfactory performance reviews, educational needs of the ~~departmentacademic unit~~, and continued funding. ~~If an Executive-in-Residence applies for and is appointed to a tenure-track faculty position, time spent as an Executive-in-Residence at Missouri State University will not be counted toward the time required for tenure and promotion.~~

#### 3.5.7. Adjunct Faculty

Adjunct Faculty are those individuals who offer educational experiences to students of the University but who have no appointment with the University. The title is honorary, although the Adjunct Faculty member may receive an honorarium. Adjunct faculty may also receive a University ID, e-mail account, and library privileges.

#### 3.5.8. Per Course Faculty

A per course faculty member is appointed on a semester basis and may teach no more than twelve credit hours during any 12-month period. Employment terminates automatically at the end of the appointment period. A per course faculty member who has any other type of employment at Missouri State University is also subject to an overall limitation of 1000-hours over any 12-month period and should contact the Office of Human Resources for clarification of restrictions. Per course faculty should possess a minimum of a master's degree or the equivalent professional experience in a field determined acceptable by the Dean. Per course faculty members receive no retirement or insurance benefits. However, they may be allowed the use of Hammons Student Center, the University Libraries, resources provided by Computer Services, and Magers Health and Wellness Center. Per course faculty have only the duties directly associated with teaching and are not required to perform committee work nor assume other responsibilities required of tenure-track faculty. A notice and search process is not required to fill these positions, but the position must be posted and reasonable effort should be made to meet the affirmative action policy. These positions require the recommendation of the ~~Department-HeadAUL~~ and the Dean, and approval by the Provost.

#### 3.5.9. Academic Affiliate Appointments

Academic Affiliates are those individuals employed full-time by the University in non-academic positions and who are assigned to teach courses, supervise students or direct research in academic departments. Academic Affiliate assignments are based on the experience, training, and interests of individuals that would qualify them to teach, supervise students and/or direct research outside their normal assignments and upon the needs of the University to

utilize their expertise in teaching responsibilities. The teaching/supervision responsibilities of the Academic Affiliate may be included as part of the non-academic load with no additional remuneration or the Academic Affiliate may be compensated through overload pay.

#### 3.5.5. Practitioner-In-Residence

The position of Practitioner-in-Residence is offered to outstanding practitioners who render a specified service to the University. A Practitioner-in-Residence is chosen on the basis of outstanding professional attainments and recognition in a specified field. A Practitioner-in-Residence may be appointed for a specified term not to exceed five years and may be reappointed to one or more additional terms, contingent upon satisfactory performance reviews, educational needs of the academic unit, and continued funding.

#### 3.5.6. Executive-In-Residence

The position of Executive-in-Residence is offered to outstanding business executives who render a specified service to the University. An Executive-in-Residence is chosen on the basis of outstanding professional attainments and recognition in a field. An Executive-in-Residence may be appointed for a specified term not to exceed five years and may be reappointed to one or more additional terms, contingent upon satisfactory performance reviews, educational needs of the academic unit, and continued funding.

#### 3.5.7. Adjunct Faculty

Adjunct Faculty are those individuals who offer educational experiences to students of the University but who have no appointment with the University. The title is honorary, although the Adjunct Faculty member may receive an honorarium. Adjunct faculty may also receive a University ID, e-mail account, and library privileges.

#### 3.5.8. Per Course Faculty

A per course faculty member is appointed on a semester basis and may teach no more than twelve credit hours during any 12-month period. Employment terminates automatically at the end of the appointment period. A per course faculty member who has any other type of employment at Missouri State University is also subject to an overall limitation of 1000-hours over any 12-month period and should contact the Office of Human Resources for clarification of restrictions. Per course faculty should possess a minimum of a master's degree or the equivalent professional experience in a field determined acceptable by the Dean. Per course faculty members receive no retirement or insurance benefits. However, they may be allowed the use of Hammons Student Center, the University Libraries, resources provided by Computer Services, and Magers Health and Wellness Center. Per course faculty have only the duties directly associated with teaching and are not required to perform committee work nor assume other responsibilities required of tenure-track faculty. A notice and search process is not required to fill these positions, but the position must be posted and reasonable effort should be made to meet the affirmative action policy. These positions require the recommendation of the AUL and the Dean, and approval by the Provost.

#### 3.5.9. Academic Affiliate Appointments

Academic Affiliates are those individuals employed full-time by the University in non-academic positions and who are assigned to teach courses, supervise students or direct research in academic departments. Academic Affiliate assignments are based on the experience, training, and interests of individuals that would qualify them to teach, supervise students and/or direct research outside their normal assignments and upon the needs of the University to utilize their expertise in teaching responsibilities. The teaching/supervision responsibilities of the Academic Affiliate may be included as part of the non-academic load with no additional remuneration or the Academic Affiliate may be compensated through overload pay.



### 3.5.10. Research Faculty

~~Effective January 1, 2007, Research Faculty appointments became non-tenure track; Research Faculty who held tenure prior to January 1, 2007, retained their tenure status.~~ Research faculty are members of the faculty whose primary responsibility is Research, but according to specific assignments, may be involved in Teaching, and Service also. Research Faculty members must hold graduate degrees in appropriate disciplines. Appointment is to the rank of Research Associate, Assistant Research Professor, Associate Research Professor, or Research Professor. –The standards for these ranks shall be the same as those for the comparative ranks in Section 3.4. Research Faculty are not eligible for tenure, but have the same right to academic-freedom accorded tenure-track faculty. ~~Departments Academic units~~ desiring to appoint Research Faculty shall develop appropriate appointment, promotion and performance review criteria for each rank, which must be approved by the Dean of the College and the Provost. Evaluations of research faculty members will be based primarily upon research, with teaching and service accomplishments considered commensurate with assigned duties.

#### 3.5.10.1. State Fruit Experiment Station Research Faculty

State Fruit Experiment Station faculty members hold Research Faculty status with responsibilities in Research, Teaching, Service, and Outreach. Evaluations shall be based on these areas commensurate with assigned duties. Outreach includes various teaching and service activities targeting the public and industry, including but not limited to individual consultations, diagnostic services, conferences, workshops, field days, and other educational opportunities. Activities at the State Fruit Experiment Station are mandated by state law (RSMo (1899) ch. 67, art. 3, sect. 4725-4737 and RSMo (2000) chpts. 261.023, 262.030-262.090). State Fruit Experiment Station Research Faculty are not eligible for tenure but have the same right to academic freedom accorded tenure-track faculty. However, Research Faculty who held tenure prior to January 1, 2007, shall retain their tenure status. ~~A Research Faculty member with a probationary appointment prior to January 1, 2007, shall be eligible to apply for tenure as stated in the faculty member's appointment letter.~~

#### 3.5.10.2. Research Faculty - Research Centers

Faculty members may be initially appointed to service in the research centers to conduct research which is partially or totally supported by outside funds. Such faculty members are designated as Research Associate, Assistant Research Professor, Associate Research Professor, or Research Professor. Qualifications for appointment must be commensurate with appointment to the tenure-track faculty. Research Faculty members have such rights, prerogatives, and benefits (e.g., sick leave, vacation, etc.) as are provided in each individual appointment. A Research Faculty member may be employed without limit, subject to the availability of outside funding to support the appointment. If a Research Faculty member is appointed to a tenure-track faculty position, time spent in the term position ~~will not~~ may be counted toward the time required for tenure and promotion.

All faculty members assigned or appointed to research centers are entitled to the full protection guaranteed all faculty members ~~dealing with academic freedom (refer to Section 3.1.2).~~ in the Section of this Faculty Handbook dealing with academic freedom (refer to Section 3.1.2).

#### ~~3.5.11. Clinical Faculty~~

~~Clinical Faculty are members of the faculty whose primary responsibilities are clinical education and service. Clinical Faculty are not eligible for tenure but have the same right to academic freedom accorded tenure-track faculty. Clinical Faculty may participate in research and other scholarly or creative activities. Clinical Faculty must be qualified as~~

### 3.5.10. Research Faculty

Effective January 1, 2007, Research Faculty appointments became non-tenure track; Research Faculty who held tenure prior to January 1, 2007, retained their tenure status. Research faculty are members of the faculty whose primary responsibility is Research, but according to specific assignments, may be involved in Teaching, and Service also. Research Faculty members must hold graduate degrees in appropriate disciplines. Appointment is to the rank of Research Associate, Assistant Research Professor, Associate Research Professor, or Research Professor. The standards for these ranks shall be the same as those for the comparative ranks in Section 3.4. Research Faculty are not eligible for tenure, but have the same right to academic-freedom accorded tenure-track faculty. Academic units desiring to appoint Research Faculty shall develop appropriate appointment, promotion and performance review criteria for each rank, which must be approved by the Dean of the College and the Provost. Evaluations of research faculty members will be based primarily upon research, with teaching and service accomplishments considered commensurate with assigned duties.

#### 3.5.10.1. State Fruit Experiment Station Research Faculty

State Fruit Experiment Station faculty members hold Research Faculty status with responsibilities in Research, Teaching, Service, and Outreach. Evaluations shall be based on these areas commensurate with assigned duties. Outreach includes various teaching and service activities targeting the public and industry, including but not limited to individual consultations, diagnostic services, conferences, workshops, field days, and other educational opportunities. Activities at the State Fruit Experiment Station are mandated by state law (RSMo (1899) ch. 67, art. 3, sect. 4725-4737 and RSMo (2000) chpts. 261.023, 262.030-262.090). State Fruit Experiment Station Research Faculty are not eligible for tenure but have the same right to academic freedom accorded tenure-track faculty. However, Research Faculty who held tenure prior to January 1, 2007, shall retain their tenure status.

#### 3.5.10.2. Research Faculty - Research Centers

Faculty members may be initially appointed to service in the research centers to conduct research which is partially or totally supported by outside funds. Such faculty members are designated as Research Associate, Assistant Research Professor, Associate Research Professor, or Research Professor. Qualifications for appointment must be commensurate with appointment to the tenure-track faculty. Research Faculty members have such rights, prerogatives, and benefits (e.g., sick leave, vacation, etc.) as are provided in each individual appointment. A Research Faculty member may be employed without limit, subject to the availability of outside funding to support the appointment. If a Research Faculty member is appointed to a tenure-track faculty position, time spent in the term position may be counted toward the time required for tenure and promotion.

All faculty members assigned or appointed to research centers are entitled to the full protection guaranteed all faculty members dealing with academic freedom (refer to Section 3.1.2).

Clinical faculty section moved up.



### 3.6.1. Emeritus Status

Appointment to Emeritus Faculty status is granted as a result of meritorious service to the University, including contributions in the areas of Teaching, Research, Service and leadership. To be eligible for the title, a faculty member must also satisfy the following requirements: (1) completion of at least ten years of full-time academic service to Missouri State University (some exceptional senior faculty may be recognized with fewer than ten years of service), and (2) retirement status or disability status at Missouri State University. Emeritus status is awarded through affirmative vote of the full-time faculty in the ~~department-academic unit~~ in which the candidate holds appointment and by favorable administrative action. The candidate shall be informed in writing in a timely manner of non-approval at any stage of the review process. Emeritus faculty, who will be listed as such in the University Catalog, shall be entitled to all benefits provided to University retirees (Refer to Section 14.2) and, in addition, shall receive invitations to special events, an e-mail account, and a President's parking pass. Emeriti faculty are entitled to enroll in one course per semester and have their required student fees paid by the University. This educational fee waiver benefit may be assigned to eligible dependent children of the retiree or to the spouse of the retiree. ~~When this benefit is assigned to an eligible dependent child, that child may receive up to 15 credit hours per academic year, the same benefit provided to active faculty employees' children.~~

#### 3.6.1.1. Reappointment of Emeritus Faculty

An Emeritus faculty member may be reappointed to a temporary appointment after achieving emeritus status to teach or for other academic assignments. In general, reappointments are renewable but will be approved for only one year at a time. The title used for a reappointment is appropriate rank Emeritus.

### 3.6.2. Joint Appointments

A joint faculty appointment is one in which a faculty member has responsibility to, and review by, more than one ~~department/program/school~~~~department/program/school~~. Joint appointments may be made in connection with interdisciplinary teaching and research programs involving two departments. The salary of a person who is jointly appointed may be apportioned between the ~~departments-academic units~~ commensurate with assigned duties. ~~Departments-Academic units~~ involved in making joint appointments shall prepare a written agreement defining the division of responsibilities; the criteria and process for salary, performance review, reappointment, promotion and tenure decisions; teaching and research assignments; voting rights of the faculty in each ~~department~~~~academic unit~~; and process for resolving conflicts. One ~~department-academic unit~~ shall be designated the administrative home

~~department~~ and is responsible for the initiation of personnel transactions of the appointment. The home ~~department~~ ~~academic unit~~ shall seek input from the other ~~department-academic unit~~ regarding assignments and evaluation of the faculty member. Joint appointments shall be made only upon the recommendation of the administrative heads of the academic ~~departments-units~~ concerned, and with the approval of the College Dean(s), Provost, President, and Board of Governors.

### 3.6. Special Appointments

#### 3.6.1. Emeritus Status

Appointment to Emeritus Faculty status is granted as a result of meritorious service to the University, including contributions in the areas of Teaching, Research, Service and leadership. To be eligible for the title, a faculty member must also satisfy the following requirements: (1) completion of at least ten years of full-time academic service to Missouri State University (some exceptional senior faculty may be recognized with fewer than ten years of service), and (2) retirement status or disability status at Missouri State University. Emeritus status is awarded through affirmative vote of the full-time faculty in the academic unit in which the candidate holds appointment and by favorable administrative action. The candidate shall be informed in writing in a timely manner of non-approval at any stage of the review process. Emeritus faculty, who will be listed as such in the University Catalog, shall be entitled to all benefits provided to University retirees (Refer to Section 14.2) and, in addition, shall receive invitations to special events, an e-mail account, and a President's parking pass. Emeriti faculty are entitled to enroll in one course per semester and have their required student fees paid by the University. This educational fee waiver benefit may be assigned to eligible dependent children of the retiree or to the spouse of the retiree.

##### 3.6.1.1. Reappointment of Emeritus Faculty

An Emeritus faculty member may be reappointed to a temporary appointment after achieving emeritus status to teach or for other academic assignments. In general, reappointments are renewable but will be approved for only one year at a time. The title used for a reappointment is appropriate rank Emeritus.

#### 3.6.2. Joint Appointments

A joint faculty appointment is one in which a faculty member has responsibility to, and review by, more than one department/program/school. Joint appointments may be made in connection with interdisciplinary teaching and research programs involving two departments. The salary of a person who is jointly appointed may be apportioned between the academic units commensurate with assigned duties. Academic units involved in making joint appointments shall prepare a written agreement defining the division of responsibilities; the criteria and process for salary, performance review, reappointment, promotion and tenure decisions; teaching and research assignments; voting rights of the faculty in each academic unit; and process for resolving conflicts. One academic unit shall be designated the administrative home and is responsible for the initiation of personnel transactions of the appointment. The home academic unit shall seek input from the other academic unit regarding assignments and evaluation of the faculty member. Joint appointments shall be made only upon the recommendation of the administrative heads of the academic units concerned, and with the approval of the College Dean(s), Provost, President, and Board of Governors.



### 3.6.3. Associate Appointments

An Associate faculty appointment is one in which a faculty member is affiliated with a center or institute for research or service projects, which typically are supported by awards, grants, or contracts. An Associate faculty appointment may be offered by a center or institute to a qualified tenure-track or non-tenure-track faculty member to recognize the faculty member's involvement with that unit. Associate faculty appointments shall be made only when it is mutually beneficial to the faculty member, to the home ~~department-academic unit~~ of the faculty member, and to the granting unit. Associate faculty appointments may be initiated by the granting unit for a specified period but require approval of the faculty member's ~~Department Head~~AUL, the appropriate College Dean(s), and the Provost. A memorandum of understanding (MOU) defining the objectives, time commitment of the Associate faculty, and compensation terms must accompany the appointment. Ideally, the agreement would be in place at least three months in advance of the effective date of the appointment. Associate faculty appointments are by invitation only and are completely voluntary.

For probationary tenure-track faculty, time spent at centers or institutes counts toward tenure eligibility. Time spent at centers or institutes also counts towards eligibility for sabbatical leave.

### 3.7. Tenure

#### 3.7.1. General Philosophy

The primary responsibilities of the faculty at Missouri State University are Teaching, Research, and Service. By accepting an appointment at this University, an individual in a tenure-track position assumes a responsibility to pursue scholarly activities in each of these areas. Such pursuits necessitate broad intellectual freedom, as discussed in Section 3.1.2.

Tenure is a means to certain ends, specifically: (1) freedom in Teaching, Research, and Service; (2) freedom to pursue extramural activities, and (3) a sufficient degree of economic security to make the profession attractive to ~~men-and women~~individuals of ability. Academic freedom and economic security, hence tenure, are indispensable to the success of an institution in fulfilling its obligations to its students and to society.

#### 3.7.2. Tenure

Only members of the tenure-track faculty are eligible for tenure. The choices that the University makes in granting tenure are crucial to its endeavors toward academic excellence. A decision to grant tenure must reflect an assessment of high professional competence and performance measured against University standards. Recommendations for tenure are made in accordance with ~~department~~academic unit, college, and University policies and procedures. The expectations for each individual are dependent upon the particular assignment. It is the responsibility of applicants for tenure to provide sufficient relevant documentation as evidence in support of their Teaching, Research, and Service activities.

Tenure is based on a thorough evaluation of the candidate's total contribution to the University. While specific responsibilities of faculty members may vary because of special assignments or because of the particular mission of an academic unit, all evaluations for tenure shall address the manner in which each candidate has performed in Teaching, Research, and Service. Basic competence in itself is not sufficient to justify granting tenure, for such competence is a prerequisite for the initial appointment. The decision to grant tenure is inherently and inescapably judgmental and is a deliberate action indicating ~~that~~ the person has been selected as a member of the permanent faculty

because of demonstrated high-quality performance and relative merit.

Tenure will be granted only to faculty members who apply for tenure and are approved through normal procedures (Refer to Section 4). All initial appointment letters for individuals hired in tenure-track faculty positions will specify the last semester during which this tenure application can be made. If a tenure application is not made by a faculty member by this specified time, the individual forfeits all expectations for tenure as specified in this Faculty Handbook. De facto tenure will not occur. Tenure-track faculty who have not been granted tenure by the end of their seventh year of employment at Missouri State University shall not be further employed by Missouri State University in a tenure-track position.

### 3.6.3. Associate Appointments

An Associate faculty appointment is one in which a faculty member is affiliated with a center or institute for research or service projects, which typically are supported by awards, grants, or contracts. An Associate faculty appointment may be offered by a center or institute to a qualified tenure-track or non-tenure-track faculty member to recognize the faculty member's involvement with that unit. Associate faculty appointments shall be made only when it is mutually beneficial to the faculty member, to the home academic unit of the faculty member, and to the granting unit. Associate faculty appointments may be initiated by the granting unit for a specified period but require approval of the faculty member's AUL, the appropriate College Dean(s), and the Provost. A memorandum of understanding (MOU) defining the objectives, time commitment of the Associate faculty, and compensation terms must accompany the appointment. Ideally, the agreement would be in place at least three months in advance of the effective date of the appointment. Associate faculty appointments are by invitation only and are completely voluntary.

For probationary tenure-track faculty, time spent at centers or institutes counts toward tenure eligibility. Time spent at centers or institutes also counts towards eligibility for sabbatical leave.

### 3.7. Tenure

#### 3.7.1. General Philosophy

The primary responsibilities of the faculty at Missouri State University are Teaching, Research, and Service. By accepting an appointment at this University, an individual in a tenure-track position assumes a responsibility to pursue scholarly activities in each of these areas. Such pursuits necessitate broad intellectual freedom, as discussed in Section 3.1.2.

Tenure is a means to certain ends, specifically: (1) freedom in Teaching, Research, and Service; (2) freedom to pursue extramural activities, and (3) a sufficient degree of economic security to make the profession attractive to individuals of ability. Academic freedom and economic security, hence tenure, are indispensable to the success of an institution in fulfilling its obligations to its students and to society.

#### 3.7.2. Tenure

Only members of the tenure-track faculty are eligible for tenure. The choices that the University makes in granting tenure are crucial to its endeavors toward academic excellence. A decision to grant tenure must reflect an assessment of high professional competence and performance measured against University standards. Recommendations for tenure are made in accordance with academic unit, college, and University policies and procedures. The expectations for each individual are dependent upon the particular assignment. It is the responsibility of applicants for tenure to provide sufficient relevant documentation as evidence in support of their Teaching, Research, and Service activities.

Tenure is based on a thorough evaluation of the candidate's total contribution to the University. While specific responsibilities of faculty members may vary because of special assignments or because of the particular mission of an academic unit, all evaluations for tenure shall address the manner in which each candidate has performed in Teaching, Research, and Service. Basic competence in itself is not sufficient to justify granting tenure, for such competence is a prerequisite for the initial appointment. The decision to grant tenure is inherently and inescapably judgmental and is a deliberate action indicating that the person has been selected as a member of the permanent faculty because of demonstrated high-quality performance and relative merit.

Tenure will be granted only to faculty members who apply for tenure and are approved through normal procedures (Refer to Section 4). All initial appointment letters for individuals hired in tenure-track faculty positions will specify the last semester during which this tenure application can be made. If a tenure application is not made by a faculty member by this specified time, the individual forfeits all expectations for tenure as specified in this Faculty Handbook. De facto tenure will not occur. Tenure-track faculty who have not been granted tenure by the end of their seventh year of employment at Missouri State University shall not be further employed by Missouri State University in a tenure-track position.

### 3.8. Prior Service and the Probationary Period

Beginning with appointment to a tenure-track position, the probationary period at Missouri State University shall not exceed seven academic years. Credit toward the probationary period may be granted for prior full-time service to Missouri State University or to other regionally accredited baccalaureate-degree-granting institutions of higher education (or the equivalent as determined by the Provost) equivalent to service to Missouri State University. Credit for previous service is specified in the initial appointment letter. If no credit is specified, none is given.

Time spent on scholarly leave will count as part of the probationary period. In all cases, tenure decisions are made by the final probationary year.

#### 3.8.1. Stopping the Tenure Clock

Notwithstanding the above, the probationary period may be extended at the request of the faculty member for reason of medical condition, to accommodate important family care issues, or military service for a period typically not to exceed two additional years. Such extension will be based upon the recommendation of the ~~Department-Head/School Director~~AUL, Dean, and with approval by the Provost in consultation with Human Resources.

#### 3.8.2. Tenure Upon Hire

An applicant for a position as Associate Professor or Professor may be offered tenure as a condition of initial employment only under the following circumstances: (1) the possession of academic credentials reflecting exemplary teaching and service experience, as well as excellence in research, including nationally recognized peer-reviewed publications in the applicant's academic discipline, and (2) an affirmative vote of a majority of the tenured faculty in the affected ~~department~~academic unit.

### 3.9. Locus of Tenure

Tenure is awarded only by a formal vote of the Board of Governors. The locus of tenure is in the University (except that faculty of the Greenwood Laboratory School hold tenure in the Laboratory School – see Section 3.3). Assignment of tenured faculty will normally be to academic ~~departments-units~~ but tenured faculty may by consent be assigned to other professional duties (see also Section 13.2.4.21-3). Tenure, once granted, remains in the University.

### 3.10. Non-Reappointment of Tenure-Track Faculty during the Probationary Period

Non-reappointment decisions will be reached according to procedures described in Section 4 Faculty Evaluations. Notice of nonrenewal of appointment, or of intention not to recommend renewal of appointment, shall be given in writing by the Provost in accordance with the AAUP "Standards for Notice of Non-reappointment" described in ~~Section 4.6.3~~.

### 3.8. Prior Service and the Probationary Period

Beginning with appointment to a tenure-track position, the probationary period at Missouri State University shall not exceed seven academic years. Credit toward the probationary period may be granted for prior full-time service to Missouri State University or to other regionally accredited baccalaureate-degree-granting institutions of higher education (or the equivalent as determined by the Provost) equivalent to service to Missouri State University. Credit for previous service is specified in the initial appointment letter. If no credit is specified, none is given.

Time spent on scholarly leave will count as part of the probationary period. In all cases, tenure decisions are made by the final probationary year.

#### 3.8.1. Stopping the Tenure Clock

Notwithstanding the above, the probationary period may be extended at the request of the faculty member for reason of medical condition, to accommodate important family care issues, or military service for a period typically not to exceed two additional years. Such extension will be based upon the recommendation of the AUL, Dean, and with approval by the Provost in consultation with Human Resources.

#### 3.8.2. Tenure Upon Hire

An applicant for a position as Associate Professor or Professor may be offered tenure as a condition of initial employment only under the following circumstances: (1) the possession of academic credentials reflecting exemplary teaching and service experience, as well as excellence in research, including nationally recognized peer-reviewed publications in the applicant's academic discipline, and (2) an affirmative vote of a majority of the tenured faculty in the affected academic unit.

### 3.9. Locus of Tenure

Tenure is awarded only by a formal vote of the Board of Governors. The locus of tenure is in the University (except that faculty of the Greenwood Laboratory School hold tenure in the Laboratory School – see Section 3.3). Assignment of tenured faculty will normally be to academic units but tenured faculty may by consent be assigned to other professional duties (see also Section 13.2.4.2). Tenure, once granted, remains in the University.

### 3.10. Non-Reappointment of Tenure-Track Faculty during the Probationary Period

Non-reappointment decisions will be reached according to procedures described in Section 4 Faculty Evaluation. Notice of nonrenewal of appointment, or of intention not to recommend renewal of appointment, shall be given in writing by the Provost in accordance with the AAUP "Standards for Notice of Non-reappointment" described in ~~Section 4.6.3~~.



### 3.11. Graduate Faculty

Members of the graduate faculty shall be competent in graduate instruction, conducting and disseminating research, and the supervision direction of research (as defined broadly in Section 4.2), clinical practice, or applied practice

appropriate to the University's graduate program mission and to the educational goals of a particular graduate program. ~~They shall be engaged in research or applied practice appropriate to the faculty member's academic discipline.~~ Normally, the graduate faculty is composed of individuals who hold academic rank of Assistant Professor, Clinical Assistant Professor, or higher in ~~departments or programs~~ academic units that offer graduate degree programs or who support graduate students in other formal ways. Faculty members without earned terminal degrees, but who are widely recognized as leaders in their academic disciplines, may be elected to be graduate faculty upon approval by the Graduate Council.

Each graduate faculty member must meet specified criteria to receive graduate faculty status as set forth by the Graduate Council. ~~All departments-academic units~~ must have current criteria for graduate faculty status and may require faculty within their ~~department-unit~~ to meet criteria that are in addition to the criteria set by the Graduate Council. ~~Departmental-Academic unit~~ criteria must be approved by the Graduate Council and shall be on file with the Graduate College.

Graduate ~~f~~Faculty status will be of two kinds, Research and Professional. Specifically, Research Graduate faculty must have a terminal degree in the discipline and a minimum of three scholarly publications (or equivalent) in hand. They shall be engaged in research or applied practice appropriate to the faculty member's academic discipline. For faculty whose research is in the visual and performing arts and who are designated to direct graduate/artistic/performance projects, the publication requirement may be satisfied in whole or in part by an established record of reviewed exhibition or performance (art shows, concerts, theatre productions, etc.). Professional Graduate faculty status is for individuals whose professional training and/or experience is appropriate for graduate-level education. In order to be granted Professional Graduate faculty status, individuals must possess a graduate/professional degree in a relevant discipline, have at least two years of relevant experience, and have professional certification (if any) or other requisite experience to fill needs of graduate programs.

### 3.11. Graduate Faculty

Members of the graduate faculty shall be competent in graduate instruction, conducting and disseminating research, and the supervision of research (as defined broadly in Section 4.2), clinical practice, or applied practice appropriate to the University's graduate program mission and to the educational goals of a particular graduate program. Normally, the graduate faculty is composed of individuals who hold academic rank of Assistant Professor, Clinical Assistant Professor, or higher in academic units that offer graduate degree programs or who support graduate students in other formal ways. Faculty members without earned terminal degrees, but who are widely recognized as leaders in their academic disciplines, may be elected to be graduate faculty upon approval by the Graduate Council.

Each graduate faculty member must meet specified criteria to receive graduate faculty status as set forth by the Graduate Council. All academic units must have current criteria for graduate faculty status and may require faculty within their unit to meet criteria that are in addition to the criteria set by the Graduate Council. Academic unit criteria must be approved by the Graduate Council and shall be on file with the Graduate College.

Graduate faculty status will be of two kinds, Research and Professional. Specifically, Research Graduate faculty must have a terminal degree in the discipline and a minimum of three scholarly publications (or equivalent) in hand. They shall be engaged in research or applied practice appropriate to the faculty member's academic discipline. For faculty whose research is in the visual and performing arts and who are designated to direct graduate/artistic/performance projects, the publication requirement may be satisfied in whole or in part by an established record of reviewed exhibition or performance (art shows, concerts, theatre productions, etc.). Professional Graduate faculty status is for individuals whose professional training and/or experience is appropriate for graduate-level education. In order to be granted Professional Graduate faculty status, individuals must possess a graduate/professional degree in a relevant discipline, have at least two years of relevant experience, and have professional certification (if any) or other requisite experience to fill needs of graduate programs.



23 Potential members of the graduate faculty must be supported by a majority of the graduate faculty in their ~~department~~  
24 ~~academic unit~~ and approved by their ~~Department Head~~AUL and Dean before being presented to the Graduate Council  
25 for approval. Recommendations for graduate faculty status must gain the majority vote of approval by the Graduate  
26 Council Membership Committee and be accepted by the Graduate Council by a three-fourths majority vote.

27 Upon receiving graduate faculty status, faculty members are eligible to (a) teach 700-level and above courses, (b) to  
28 serve as graduate program directors or coordinators, (c) serve as research advisers and on research committees, (d)  
29 serve as graduate academic advisers, and (e) serve on graduate faculty committees and graduate program advisory  
30 committees. Faculty with Graduate Faculty status are eligible to elect ~~department~~-colleagues ~~from their unit~~ to the  
31 Graduate Council, serve on the Graduate Council, and challenge actions of the Graduate Council. Only members  
32 with Research Graduate faculty status may serve as chairs of thesis committees. Under certain circumstances, an  
33 individual who has not been elected to the graduate faculty may be temporarily authorized by the Dean of the Graduate  
34 College to teach a specific 700-level or higher course if that individual's training and/or experience warrants. Graduate  
35 faculty members ~~shall~~ may receive reassigned teaching loads for graduate program advisement, research advisement,  
36 or thesis supervision.

37 The term of appointment to the graduate faculty is normally for an indefinite period. However, a member of the  
38 graduate faculty may be removed by a three-fourths majority vote of the Graduate Council following such  
39 recommendation by the ~~Department~~academic unit, supported by a three-fourths majority vote by the ~~Department's~~  
40 ~~unit's~~ other graduate faculty.

41 Faculty not meeting the full requirements for graduate faculty status can be given probationary status for two years  
42 that can be renewed for an additional two years, following the same process as described above. Other than term of  
43 appointment, faculty holding probationary status have the same privileges as those granted for permanent status.

44 In computing years of service that will apply toward eligibility for promotion, time spent on special leave will be  
1 counted.

Potential members of the graduate faculty must be supported by a majority of the graduate faculty in their academic  
unit and approved by their AUL and Dean before being presented to the Graduate Council for approval.  
Recommendations for graduate faculty status must gain the majority vote of approval by the Graduate Council  
Membership Committee and be accepted by the Graduate Council by a three-fourths majority vote.

Upon receiving graduate faculty status, faculty members are eligible to (a) teach 700-level and above courses, (b) to  
serve as graduate program directors or coordinators, (c) serve as research advisers and on research committees, (d)  
serve as graduate academic advisers, and (e) serve on graduate faculty committees and graduate program advisory  
committees. Faculty with Graduate Faculty status are eligible to elect colleagues from their unit to the Graduate  
Council, serve on the Graduate Council, and challenge actions of the Graduate Council. Only members with  
Research Graduate faculty status may serve as chairs of thesis committees. Under certain circumstances, an  
individual who has not been elected to the graduate faculty may be temporarily authorized by the Dean of the  
Graduate College to teach a specific 700-level or higher course if that individual's training and/or experience  
warrants. Graduate faculty members may receive reassigned teaching loads for graduate program advisement,  
research advisement, or thesis supervision.

The term of appointment to the graduate faculty is normally for an indefinite period. However, a member of the  
graduate faculty may be removed by a three-fourths majority vote of the Graduate Council following such  
recommendation by the academic unit, supported by a three-fourths majority vote by the unit's other graduate  
faculty.

Faculty not meeting the full requirements for graduate faculty status can be given probationary status for two years  
that can be renewed for an additional two years, following the same process as described above. Other than term of  
appointment, faculty holding probationary status have the same privileges as those granted for permanent status.

In computing years of service that will apply toward eligibility for promotion, time spent on special leave will be  
counted.

Several questions/comments that came in are beyond our scope, which we will hand over the Senate for deliberation in future.

Meanwhile, for immediate Senate discussion (as it would have an important effect on next year's candidate cycle):

**The Interim Provost has floated eliminating the requirement for external letters for P/T applicants.**

She reports that various Deans suggest that the letters have not affected decision-making and that they are increasingly difficult to procure (worse in some units than others).

Handbook Revision Committee requests a recommendation from Faculty Senate on this item.

Thanks.